THE PEREGRINE FUND CONSERVING BIRDS OF PREY WORLDWIDE

2011 Annual Report

illy Hawk, Windhover, Sparrowhawk; regardless of its many nicknames, the American Kestrel is the most common falcon in North America. But we know, from working with previously "common" species, that no bird of prey should be taken for granted. Many respected observers have suspected for decades that American Kestrel populations are declining. Our response is an innovative approach that offers everyone, from kindergarten students to seasoned research scientists, exciting ways to participate with us in the kestrel's conservation. Please see page 16 to learn more.

kestrel

partnership a project of The Peregrine Fund California Collady California Collady California Collady California Collady Falcon | American Kestrel | Gold Rough-legger California (Collady)

on | Prairie Falcon | Aplocado d Eagle | Red-shouldered Hawk rey | Goshawk | Cooper | HayD Condor | HayB

ed Falcon rowned Sol idagascar Wh

Cape of the second seco

his past year has been especially busy and productive—we are working with 34 species of birds of prey in 27 countries around the world, the most ever in The Peregrine Fund's 41-year history. And, in response to ongoing economic challenges around the world, we are doing it without extra staff or resources. I am grateful to all the hard-working employees who make this possible and to all the loyal and generous supporters who enable us to carry on.

When the Peregrine Falcon verged on the brink of extinction more than 40 years ago, The Peregrine Fund pioneered techniques for breeding falcons in captivity and releasing them to the wild. That was state-of-the-art stuff back then, and it was (and still is) expensive and time-consuming. Even so, we remain committed to captive propagation when necessary to recover endangered species and are proud of our success rearing and releasing many endangered birds of prey through the years, including our current work with California Condors and Aplomado Falcons.



J. Peter Jenny, President and CEO

However, I believe it is more important than ever to stop the downward slide long before a species is in serious trouble. Consider the difference between a smoke detector and a speeding fire engine—the smoke detector saves more lives at significantly less expense.

"It is more important than ever to stop the downward slide long before a species is in serious trouble." To that end, we spent much of this past year preparing to launch a new program in 2012 that will address the decline in North America of the colorful and charismatic American Kestrel. Like our work to save the Peregrine Falcon, this project also will be state-of-the-art, but using 21st century tools. We are harnessing the power of the internet to team professional researchers with citizen scientists to create a foundation on which to build a sound conservation strategy. Thankfully, the American Kestrel does not yet appear to be in danger of extinction, but we smell smoke. Initiated now, I believe our American Kestrel Partnership can avert an expensive crisis like we once faced with the Peregrine Falcon 40 years ago.

Even as we look for new ways to work harder, faster, and smarter, some things never change. The Peregrine Fund remains a small, nimble, hands-on organization that meets challenges head on. This past year, we sent researchers into the field in countries like Kenya and Uganda in Africa, India, Philippines and New Guinea in Asia, and Ecuador, Dominican Republic, Peru, and Brazil in Latin America to deal with some of the world's thorniest conservation problems.

We also remain committed to education, particularly efforts that empower local people to conserve birds of prey and their habitat and devise grassroots recovery plans that work best for them. People represent both the biggest threat and the solution to raptor recovery. We are making progress with education and awareness campaigns to end the shooting and poisoning of birds of prey.

Whether I am in meetings or out in the field, I am constantly reminded of the importance of The Peregrine Fund's role as an innovative and respected raptor conservation organization. I am confident that The Peregrine Fund is well-positioned to adapt to whatever the future brings, and I am grateful to all those who choose to be part of the journey.

than 65 countries.

The Peregrine Fund has worked in or supported

associates from more

Thank you for your support.

Since 1970

highlights:

eight of the birds that benefited from your partnership last year



CALIFORNIA CONDOR Flying free in Arizona and Utah

In FY11, our World Center for Birds of Prey—home to the world's largest flock of captive condors—transferred a record number of eggs to other facilities to ensure genetic diversity and allow infertile eggs in the wild to be replaced with fertile ones. In the wild, three chicks hatched in Arizona, the most in a single year. In another first, a trio of adults produced an egg and successfully reared their chick. Lead poisoning remains a persistent danger to all the birds in the wild, however, claiming the lives of three condors in FY11.

> NEXT STEP: We expect to release up to 15 captive-bred condors in the next year and continue to test the entire Arizona flock for lead poisoning. Together with state wildlife agencies, our work to increase awareness among hunters continues so they can participate to recover this critically endangered

> > species

RIDGWAY'S HAWK Moving on, with a little help

Deforestation and human activity in Dominican Republic have confined most Ridgway's Hawks to a small national park. An innovative technique we call "assisted dispersal" is proving successful for moving young birds out of the park to suitable habitat on private lands. With our partner, the Hispaniola Ornithological Society, we found new homes for 11 young hawks in FY11.

NEXT STEP: We will seek additional assisted dispersal sites and continue educating local communities about the ecological importance of the hawk, which eats snakes and rats, not farmers' chickens.

APLOMADO FALCON Regaining a foothold in Texas

Annual surveys show that the population of Aplomado Falcons in South Texas is small but thriving. We were pleased in FY11 to find an increase in the number of pairs setting up territories and nests, despite an historic drought in Texas.

Most of those pairs were using the artificial nest boxes that we have erected and adapted to keep chicks safe from predators.

NEXT STEP: More precise information will be collected on the species' current status and on what is critical to establishing a lasting and viable population. We will increase the intensity and geographic scope of our survey efforts, place additional artificial nest structures, band young from artificial nests and conduct genetic analysis. We also will work with refuge land managers to maintain open habitat for this and other grassland species.

ORANGE-BREASTED FALCON Bolstering a tiny population

The rare and beautiful Orangebreasted Falcon is found in remote tracts of rainforest in Belize and Guatemala. We produce these birds in captivity and release them to the wild. A male falcon released last year took the FY11 group of five

captive-bred chicks under his wing, feeding with them at the release site and alerting them to potential threats. The same bird was spotted with a wild adult female, sparking hopes that more wild pairs of Orangebreasted Falcons will be formed as a result of our releases.

NEXT STEP: We will continue releasing as many captivebred birds as possible and monitoring nest occupancy and productivity of wild and released falcons. Cameras, computer modeling, and other technology will help us increase our understanding of the falcons and their survival needs.

5

MADAGASCAR FISH EAGLE An umbrella for a unique ecosystem

For 21 years, The Peregrine Fund has worked in the richly diverse environment of Madagascar to conserve raptors found nowhere else on Earth. Along the

way, we have discovered other animals, too, including a previously unknown lemur and a diving duck, the Madagascar Pochard, once thought to be extinct. In FY11, we helped local communities manage, protect, and restore habitat necessary for both people and endangered species to survive.

NEXT STEP: We will continue pressing for permanent protected status for important habitat reserves amid the nation's political uncertainty. With our partners, we will assist with captive breeding of the Madagascar Pochard. As we have for two decades, we will train and support Malagasy students seeking advanced degrees in raptor conservation. ASIAN VULTURES Battling against a toxic drug

In 2003, The Peregrine Fund discovered that diclofenac, a veterinary drug used to treat ailing livestock before they die, is toxic to vultures. The rapid loss of certain *Gyps* populations in India and elsewhere in South Asia was staggering—up to 99% in only a decade. India and other

nations banned veterinary diclofenac, and in FY11 we found that populations of the affected species appeared to be stabilizing.

NEXT STEP: We will continue to collect long-term data to determine the effectiveness of the diclofenac ban. Our field surveys, together with the contributions of others to our online database, will support a sound conservation strategy for endangered vultures.

HARPY EAGLE Tracking from Panama to Beliz

For more than 20 years, our efforts to breed Harpy Eagles in captivity, release them to the wild, monitor them intensively, and educate the public have contributed significantly to the conservation of this magnificent forest raptor in Latin America. Two Harpy Eagles were shot and killed in FY11 and eagle habitat continues to disappear at an alarming rate, but our field work offers hope that significant challenges facing this threatened species will be overcome.

NEXT STEP: Our ongoing education efforts will include training of three new local volunteers in conservation and research. Nest surveys and monitoring will enable us to learn more about the movements, dispersal, and survival of Harpy Eagles.

PHILIPPINE EAGLE Rearing, releasing, monitoring

The Philippine Eagle is a global icon of the rainforest and a national symbol of pride among the Philippine people. Our guidance and expertise in FY11 helped our partner, the Philippine Eagle Foundation, to raise chicks in captivity, release juveniles to the wild, educate local communities, and conduct monitoring to protect the eagles, whose habitat is greatly reduced by deforestation.

NEXT STEP: As many fertile eggs will be hatched in captivity as possible and the young released to the wild. Eagles will be tracked with satellite and radio telemetry to collect research information. Education campaigns will continue in order to deter hunting and trapping of eagles in local communities and build support for habitat conservation.

Contents

Gulf Oil Spill Monitoring	6
California Condor Restoration	8
Northern Aplomado Falcon Restoration	. 12
American Kestrel Partnership	. 16
Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program Harpy Eagle Conservation and Research Harpy Eagle Restoration Orange-breasted Falcon Project West Indies Raptor Conservation Project Neotropical Science and Student Education Neotropical Raptor Network	18 20 21 22 24 25 27
Pan Africa Raptor Conservation Program East Africa Project Madagascar Project	28 30 32
Asia-Pacific Raptor Conservation Program Asian Vulture Crisis Philippine Eagle Conservation	. 34 . 36 . 37
Education Program	. 38
The Archives of Falconry	. 39
Conservation Science Student Education Program Global Raptor Information Network Raptor Conservation Genetics Research Scientific Publications and Presentations	40 40 42 43 43
Cooperators	. 46
Donors	. 47
Legacy Circle	. 52
Staff and Volunteers	53
In Memory	53
Financial Position	. 54

The Peregrine Fund 2011 Annual Report © 2012. Edited by Pat Burnham and Susan Whaley. Design ©2012 by Amy Siedenstrang. Printing and manufacturing donated by MyPublisher.com Cover image by Mia McPherson

Gulf Oil Spill Monitoring



Our goal, in cooperation with Earthspan, is to evaluate the scope and potential for impact on migrating Peregrine Falcons of exposure to toxic hydrocarbons resulting from the Deepwater

Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico, which began in April 2010 and was capped in July. Migrating Peregrines were trapped, evaluated for external signs of oil exposure, and a sample of blood was collected from the brachial vein. Falcons were banded with U.S. Geological Survey bands and released immediately to continue their migration. Trapping occurred at South Padre Island, Texas, in September–October 2010 and April 2011. The blood samples were analyzed for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) and results will be used to evaluate the need for further investigations on summer breeding grounds next summer and further migration sampling.

Results

In cooperation with Earthspan, a total of 194 blood samples were collected. One hundred and four samples were sent to the Center for Environmental Sciences and Engineering at the University of Connecticut to test for the presence of PAH residues. This laboratory was chosen because it has been conducting the testing for the Natural Resource Damage Assessment (NRDA) on a wide variety of taxa from the oil spill area.

Although we saw no obvious signs of oil contamination on any falcons captured, we still wanted to determine if less obvious exposure could be detected. To our surprise, 18% of the individuals tested contained PAH residues consistent with the BP oil spill. This indicates that a significant percentage of falcons migrating southward along or over the Gulf of Mexico could have been exposed to contaminants from the BP oil spill. These compounds are known to be carcinogenic and affect survival and reproduction in avian species.

Because this study is not part of the NRDA process and associated non-disclosure mandates, it represents one of the few studies where data are currently available to the public. We now have submitted 53 blood samples from falcons collected north of the oil spill on Assateague Island, Maryland, during the same period, in addition to archived samples collected on Padre Island, Texas, from the year prior to the oil spill, to establish a control data set. These data will be published in peer-reviewed scientific literature when analyses are complete. Our targeted analyses may indicate that highly toxic compounds associated with the BP oil spill, although no longer visible, have been distributed quite widely through the food chain. Once again, the Peregrine Falcon has demonstrated its usefulness as a bioindicator.

6

N

Ч

Once again, the Peregrine Falcon has demonstrated its usefulness as a bioindicator.



N

California Condor Restoration



The number of critically endangered California Condors has grown from just 22 in 1982 to nearly 400 today, due to captive breeding, release to the wild, intensive monitoring, and adaptive

management. The Peregrine Fund began raising condors at the World Center for Birds of Prey in Boise in 1993 and releasing them in northern Arizona in 1996.

The primary challenge to recovery is lead poisoning, the leading cause of death for condors in the wild. The scavengers ingest lead fragments from spent ammunition in the remains of game animals. The Peregrine Fund assists with education programs that encourage the voluntary use of non-lead ammunition in condor country.

Results

N

Since 1996, The Peregrine Fund has released 134 condors, resulting in 15 wild-hatched young. We also documented 67 fatalities and returned nine birds to captivity. Over the years, we have collected and analyzed extensive data that has contributed to the scientific knowledge of the species and particularly those factors that influence its well-being.

A large portion (53) of the wild population has reached breeding age of more than 5 years, 42 of which are more than 8 years of age. One limiting factor has been the number of breeding-age females (14) in the current Arizona-Utah population.

Analysis of mortality data has not revealed a statistically significant higher rate of selection of females to males, but understanding that the maintenance of the adult breeding population is key to reproductive success for long-lived species, we are attempting to adjust the ratio by favoring females to males in new releases when possible. Despite the skewed sex ratio, a total of 15 young have been produced in the wilds of the Grand Canyon, Vermilion Cliffs National Monument, and surrounding area. Seven of those survive today.

We have identified lead poisoning as the principle cause of death in this condor flock. We





also identified the source of lead and ways to reduce its prevalence and impact. The game management agencies in Arizona and Utah have initiated voluntary mitigating efforts to reduce the amount of lead available to scavengers. During the 2011–12 season in northern Arizona, 90% of deer hunters took measures to reduce available lead to scavengers. These efforts to inform hunters through outreach and education are helping to generate a more widespread understanding of what has long been a hidden threat to wildlife. With continued effort and progress towards reducing lead in the northern part of the Southwest's population, we are confident that the condor population will eventually reach the recovery goal of 150 individuals.

Propagation

The Peregrine Fund had 53 California Condors in Boise: 39 adults, of which 38 are paired for breeding (19 pairs), including one pair in the Condor Cliffs Exhibit; five juveniles; and nine chicks.

The juveniles were hatched in 2009 and 2010 and are being held for the captive breeding program. In 2011, 13 juvenile condors reared in Boise and two juveniles reared in Oregon were transferred from our facility to three separate field sites. Eighteen female condors produced 19 eggs, of which 18 were fertile. Of the 18 fertile eggs, eight stayed in Boise, six were sent to the Los Angeles Zoo to be placed in wild nests in central and southern California, one was sent to the San Diego Zoo Safari Park to be reared for release in Baja California, Mexico, and three were sent to the Oregon Zoo to assist in successful pair bonding. Of the 18 fertile eggs, 16 hatched successfully. In exchange, two fertile eggs were transferred to Boise from the Los Angeles Zoo; both hatched successfully, bringing the total number of chicks reared in Boise to nine.

We attempted to double clutch two of our most genetically valuable pairs, succeeding in one double clutch. We had 94.7% fertility, 94.4% hatchability, and 100% chick survival. Of all the eggs produced in Boise, we had 94.7% fertility, 88.8% hatchability, and 87.5% chick survival. Eight of the chicks at our facility were parentreared, while one chick was puppet-reared due to parental neglect at four days of age.

Since 2003, the adult condors have been vaccinated against West Nile Virus. We have been trapping each adult to collect and store a blood serum sample for continued titer testing. In 2011, we continued to vaccinate the California Condor chicks in accordance with the protocol established in 2009. Each chick was vaccinated at 30 days of age, given a booster at 60 days of age, and blood was drawn for titer testing between 90 and 100 days of age. We store our vaccine in super cold storage at the Biology Department on the campus of Boise State University in the hope of better maintaining the integrity of the vaccine. We also continued to maintain an aggressive mosquito abatement program at our Boise facility.

Facility Improvements

Several changes improved the facility and behavior of the condors. We continued a revamping process of our socialization pens in the incubation and chick rearing barn. We removed a large length of chain link fence that separated the two chambers, opening the space into one large flight pen. Additional natural perching was added to the pen along with a weighing perch viewable from the observation room. Continued work was done on the large pool that was installed last year that is changed and cleaned remotely from inside of the barn. New perching and access ramps were added to the trap that was built into the pen last year.

We also began the process of improving and repairing the video and camera equipment used to observe the condors in the breeding chambers. New cameras and DVRs were purchased and the installation process was begun. A manual sprinkler system was installed over the exterior portion of the breeding chambers in both breeding barns to allow for cooling during the summer months and smoke suppression in the event of a fast moving grass fire. Major repairs were made during the year to the existing monitored sprinkler system in both breeding barns, which included replacing corroded and leaking pipes, flushing the system clean, and adding corrosion inhibitor.

Release and Transfers

Ten captive-bred condors (three females and seven males) were transferred to the flight pen at the Vermilion Cliffs release site, all from the 2010 cohort. Seven of the condors were produced in Boise, one at the San Diego Wild Animal Park, and two at the Portland Zoo. Prior to release, candi-

m P

0

ᆔ

ris Pari

dates are housed in a 60-by-40foot flight pen, where they are monitored and evaluated before being deemed "fit for release." We released nine condors through November 2011 in four release events (six females and three males), bringing the total of freeflying condors in Arizona and Utah to 73.

We continue to provide contaminant-free food every three days at the release site in the form of dairy-calf carcasses. We intensely monitor newly released condors and aggressively haze them away from unsafe roosts in an attempt to avoid predation by coyotes. We observed no deaths from predation during the reporting period. Although condors have gone

missing in the past, we always hope they will one day return, just as Condor 176 reappeared after N being out of contact for nearly five Ч months. This year, however, we 0 N added two captive-reared condors and three wild-hatched young to , – the "missing and unknown" category. The synchronicity of the loss 0 of these birds suggests a common 2 source of mortality, and the timing is consistent with the period typical of lead-related death. The £ flock's ever-increasing independ-0 ence and use of habitats in Utah, ۰ ш combined with the large areas of £ inaccessible private property, continue to increase difficulty in track-_ ◄ ing and monitoring condor be-havior in Utah. z ~ ⊲

Lead Exposure and Mortality

Our research has included observations of lead pellets and fragments in the digestive tracts of lead-poisoned condors and the discovery of bullet fragments in rifle-killed deer and covotes fed on by condors. Radiographed remains of deer harvested with standard lead-based rifle bullets have revealed numerous metal fragments as the normal condition. The Peregrine Fund continues to focus on lead exposure detection and treatment as the essential element in maintaining the condor population. Since the summer of 2000, we have annually trapped all condors possible, obtained blood for lead-level analysis, and treated those with elevated blood lead-levels.

Note that the fall 2011 data will appear in next year's report, which will cover the 2011 exposure year, extending from 1 October 2011 to 30 September 2012. The period of highest exposure is October and November when the deer hunting seasons are underway, and the period of greatest lead-caused mortality among condors is December and January, reflecting the latency of effect. We collected 102 blood samples (including re-samples) during the reporting period, representing 68 of the 71 condors in the wild for the respective season. Forty-nine (72%) of the trapped birds showed lead levels indicative of

Wild Reproduction

Nine pairs exhibited breeding behavior during the reporting period, three of which were confirmed incubating within their respective nest caves and later confirmed to have viable young. This makes 15 wild-hatched young observed since 2003.

Highlights:

Condors 187M98 and 133F96 were successful in producing a chick (633) within the red-wall formation of the South Rim of the Grand Canyon, just as they had done in 2008. Peregrine Fund biologists visually confirmed the chick on 30 August 2011. The chick was found dead below its nest cave by Grand Canyon National Park biologists prior to the expected fledging date. Cause of death was not gleaned from necropsy.

Surprisingly, the trio of Condors 193M98, 243M01, and 241F01 appeared to have produced an egg, just as they had done the previous year, but in a new location. We observed steady incubation by all three, then a chick, and finally, a healthy fledged condor. This is the second account of a trio involved in courtship and breeding behavior throughout the history of the recovery effort, but the first record of a viable chick. All three adults participated in caring for the young condor. We trapped and tagged it 21 December 2011 and found no traces of lead or any other maladies. Feathers and blood will be sent out for sexing and determining parentage.

The pair of Condors 234M00 and 280F02 were thought to have produced eggs in previous years, but failed to produce young until this season. In a new location near the Battleship formation at the South Rim of the Grand



offspring at about a year of age. Juvenile condors are recognized by their black heads.

Canyon, they produced Condor 634. Due to the remote location of the nest cave, this chick wasn't confirmed until 30 August 2011. The young condor fledged on 20 November 2011 and has been observed multiple times since, alive and well in the Grand Canyon.

Proven breeding pair 114M95 and 126F95 appeared to produce another egg around 24-26 March 2011, but their previous year's chick, Condor 558, was observed entering the nest cave, possibly disrupting the pair. They abandoned the cave soon after. This behavior is not entirely unexpected because condors generally produce only one young every two years.

Condor 223M00 paired again with 10-yearold 253F01 and appeared to have produced an egg, but failed in the late stages of incubation for unknown reasons. Condor 223M00 was later found dead of lead poisoning.

Biologist Andria Kroner releases wild-hatched condor 389 after a successful blood lead test and transmitter change.



lead exposure (>15 μ g/dl), down from 52 birds in 2009. Nineteen individuals (28%) revealed lead levels greater than 65 μ g/dl, and 24 condors were treated with chelation therapy.

The treatment threshold for chelation continues to vary from year to year, case by case in an effort to reduce mortality of birds that have been repeatedly exposed for numerous years. Each individual case of lead exposure is independently diagnosed, and is based not only on blood-lead level, but on body condition, frequency of previous known exposures, nesting activity, and other variables. Numbers of birds treated from year to year may therefore not be as indicative of the severity of seasonal exposure as are the toxic blood-lead levels.

We collected four dead birds that were recovered in time to perform necropsies to determine lead toxicosis as the cause of death during the reporting period. Condor 366F05 was found dead on the Kaibab Plateau on 8 March 2011. Unfortunately, she was likely paired with condor 203M99 in a remote section of the Grand Canyon; at the time of writing this report, it was unknown if they had a viable chick. Condor 203M99's location data show a strong affinity to the nesting area, but further investigation will be completed to ascertain the results of their breeding attempt.

Condors 223M00, 270M02, and

367F05 were found within 10 days of one another, and based on sparse location data and the presence of lead pellets in their digestive systems, it is likely they were each exposed during the same poisoning episode in early spring.

With the aid of both GPS-satellite telemetry and ground tracking VHF telemetry, we again found an abrupt increase of blood leadlevels corresponding with increased use of deer-hunting areas on the Kaibab Plateau and the Kolob range in southern Utah in the weeks prior to testing. The worrisome disappearances of six additional condors during winter and early spring, the period of highest incidence of death from lead poisoning since condors began exploiting gun-killed animal remains in 2002, suggest that lead could have been implicated in those losses.

Wonitoring

Our reduced staff of seven to eight biologists and field workers tracked the daily movements and activities of condors throughout the reporting period, a task made more difficult by the increasing numbers of free-ranging birds and their widening tendencies toward long-range movement in this rugged region of limited access. We continue therefore, to rely on satellite-reporting PTT/GPS transmitters (Microwave Technology) on selected condors. These transmitters recorded hourly position fixes to within roughly 50 meters of the actual locations. and transferred accumulated data each day to orbital satellite arrays. The technology was especially useful in the case of increasingly self-sufficient condors that failed to regularly return to the release site, as is now the case for many.

Twelve individuals currently wear PTT/GPS transmitters; we selected those condors on the basis of their representation of flock movement or other considerations important to management. We were able to map entire sequences of movement by GPSequipped condors; for example, when pairs were forming or later prospecting for nest caves, or when they made incubation exchanges. The transmitters were especially valuable in revealing locations of condor concentration and prolonged activity in difficult-to-access (for us) canyon regions and remote private lands of southwestern Utah. We used the transmitters to locate areas of foraging, especially in connection with lead exposure.

We continued to see what has become the normal trend by condors of extended use of Utah, the northern end of their home range. From there in the hills just outside Zion National Park, most of the birds eventually returned to the release site as the winter snows made carrion more scarce. This period is characterized by an increasing use of the Kaibab and Paria plateaus. GPS transmitters have been especially valuable in revealing the exact locations of condor activity both in real time and in retrospect.

Close monitoring of movements has also aided us in quickly averting behavioral problems that still occasionally develop among inexperienced condors. We continue to condition them by hazing, installing aversive conditioning devices in highly used areas, and confinement. These measures are intended to break patterns of undesirable behavior as it relates to humans and artificial structures, and our records show that such conditioning results in improved behavior as the birds mature. We continue our public education and outreach efforts in areas where condors and humans overlap.

Northern Aplomado Falcon Restoration



The Northern Aplomado Falcon disappeared from the American Southwest in the 1950s, leaving its niche in the grassland ecosystem unfilled for decades. The

Peregrine Fund began raising the birds in captivity and releasing them to the wild shortly before the falcon was added to the U.S. Endangered Species List in 1986. We also monitor the population status and analyze eggs and tissue samples to determine whether contaminants are accumulating in this "indicator species."

This effort has been an ideal vehicle for promoting creative and innovative solutions to problems associated with the Endangered Species Act for private landowners. The Peregrine Fund's effort to obtain Safe Harbor Agreements with ranchers and others has opened more than 2 million acres of privately-owned, wide-open grasslands for potential Aplomado Falcon habitat.

Results

Among the many innovations that have benefited this endangered species is a unique artificial nest structure developed and deployed by The Peregrine Fund that improves Aplomado Falcon nest success and productivity. The artificial nest is applicable to other species throughout the world where habitat and nest sites may be limited. To date, we have installed 77 structures throughout the range of the recovering South Texas population. Among the 34 known breeding pairs, 24 are using our artificial structures. Such approaches allow for the type of adaptive management necessary for a restoration program to work efficiently and effectively in the contemporary landscape.

Propagation

In 2011, 25 captive Aplomado Falcons laid 207 eggs, of which 111 (54%) were fertile. Seventy (63%) hatched, and 68 (97%) survived to release-age.

Monitoring

In spring 2011, Peregrine Fund biologists returned to South Texas for field work in support of the recovery of the Aplomado population. We surveyed 44 nesting territories and observed 34 territorial pairs primarily in the areas of Matagorda Island National Wildlife Refuge (MINWR) area and Laguna Atascosa National Wildlife Refuge (LANWR). Our results were similar to those in 2010, and we were surprised by this indication of stability considering the suboptimal weather and habitat conditions during the past several years. We were encouraged by the lower presence of unpaired adult females on territories during 2011, particularly in the LANWR area where we also noticed a net increase of pairs. However, we still observed juvenile males paired with adult females. While this illustrates recruitment of males into the breeding population, it also demonstrates a lack of non-breeding adult males available in the landscape.

Precipitation levels for South Texas during the 2010–2011 season were once again showing severe drought in the region, however, surveys this season revealed a slight increase in occupied territories. Our modifications to new and existing nest structures have remedied the nest depredation problem detected in earlier years.

We also conducted Aplomado Falcon nesting surveys in the Chihuahuan Desert area of West Texas and New Mexico. During spring surveys in 2009, we had located 10 breeding pairs of falcons in these new recovery areas, but the 2010 survey efforts indicated a loss of eight of those pairs in West Texas. This year, surveys revealed just one nesting pair in West Texas and one pair in New Mexico. The West Texas pair managed to fledge two young and the New Mexico pair three.

Following the 2010 survey results, a telemetry study was implemented for the 2011 release season. Either PTT (satellite) transmitters or conventional VHF transmitters were placed on every falcon released. We wanted to discover what may have caused these breeding adults to disappear and the sources of high mortality rates observed from released young, and determine whether releases should continue there in the future. The telemetry study revealed a high incidence of mortality of released falcons, the majority of which was attributed to avian and mammalian predation. The results of the

A female Aplomado Falcon perches on a rock; biologists erect a new nest structure (inset).



telemetry study and the loss of 90% of the breeding pairs provides strong evidence that recovery of the Aplomado Falcon throughout the Chihuahuan Desert is highly unlikely.

🔻 Releases

During the 2011 field season,

2

H



Among the 34 known breeding pairs, 24 are using our artificial structures.

we released a total of 66 Aplomado Falcons from four sites in New Mexico and two sites in West Texas. A total of 1,831 captivebred falcons have now been released in Texas and New Mexico. During the previous five years, 469 of 742 (63%) falcons released became independent. This year only 19 of the 66 released falcons survived (29%).

In New Mexico we continued our release efforts on land administered by Bureau of Land Management, White Sands Missile Range (WSMR), New Mexico State Land Office (WSMR release site), the Armendaris Ranch (Engle, NM), and on two private ranches near Deming, New Mexico. We released 47 falcons in New Mexico in 2011: 12 at the WSMR site, 10 on the Armendaris Ranch, 18 on the Delk Ranch, and seven on the Cole Ranch. These falcons were released under the 10(j) Rule, which designates the population in New Mexico as a "Nonessential-Experimental Population." Nineteen falcons were released at two sites in West Texas on private ranches, the Means Ranch, and the Baeza Ranch.

LightHawk and its team of volunteer pilots (Ken and Gabrielle Adelman, David and Patty Miller,



2	
0 1	Despite the
1 	developing dry
201	conditions along
•	the coast, the prey
ОКТ	available to the
ы П С	falcons seems
AL	more than
⊃ z	adequate.
Z Z	

Jack Long, Joy Covey, Tom Haas, and Janice Newman) safely transported by air all of the falcons for releases from our breeding facility in Boise to New Mexico and Texas, greatly reducing the stress on the falcons associated with extended travel time.

Telemetry Study

Due to the results of our 2010 spring survey in the Chihuahuan Desert of West Texas (revealing the loss of eight of our established 10 breeding Aplomado pairs and high predation observed among released Aplomado Falcons during previous seasons), a telemetry study was launched during the 2011 release season. Every falcon released in both New Mexico and West Texas was fitted with either a PTT (satellite) transmitter or conventional VHF transmitter. Captive production was held to 68 falcons due to the expense involved in placing transmitters on each young falcon, with 66 of these being transported to six different release locations in New Mexico and Texas.

Having a transmitter on every young falcon enabled field crews to track, locate, and identify causes of mortality for nearly every falcon lost. The predation we observed this season may have been somewhat elevated due to extreme conditions occurring from a 100-year drought event in much of Texas and New Mexico, with predators concentrating on any food source they could find. However, we now suspect predation has always been higher than imagined in these areas and the telemetry study was able to quantitatively prove this.

We lost 47 of the 66 (71%) Aplomado Falcons released this season. In New Mexico, we lost 31 of 47 released (66%). In West Texas, we lost 16 of the 19 released (84%). Our telemetry study has enabled us to locate most of the lost falcons. One broken leg (being rehabilitated) was reported, along with mortalities and probable causes:

- 25 avian predation
- 10 missing with failed
- transmitters
- 6 mammal predation
- 2 lightning
- 1 starvation
- 1 hung up by Teflon ribbon on a barbed wire fence
 1 unknown

Of the 10 birds in the missing category, six disappeared 1–13 days after release, two disappeared 17 days after release, and two disappeared 19 days after release. It is possible that a few of these falcons could have successfully dispersed although they were never seen again at any of the release sites past the days indicated above. We are confident that 16 falcons have successfully dispersed, 13 in New Mexico and three in West Texas.

A number of the original VHF transmitters failed, which were on most of the missing birds in the mortality section of this report. Failed transmitters were replaced with new transmitters where possible. To date, at least three falcons are still wearing functional VHF transmitters.

We purchased 10 PTT-100 fivegram solar transmitters from Microwave Telemetry Inc. and placed them on 10 falcons at our two release sites in West Texas. All of the original falcons wearing the PTT transmitters have been killed or are missing. Five of the transmitters were recovered and placed on other falcons, four in New Mexico (three are still functioning) and one in West Texas. Three other transmitters have been recovered, two returned for repair, and the other waiting to be redeployed on another falcon. Three of the transmitters were on missing falcons and have never been recovered. In summary, we now have one on a West Texas falcon residing in Mexico and three on New Mexico falcons still in New Mexico, with one additional transmitter to be placed on a New Mexico falcon.

Nesting and Survey Results

We continued to focus our survey efforts in South Texas on determining occupancy at all known territories. We observed a total of 79 falcons during the survey period from 14 April to 12 May 2011. This included 34 territorial pairs and 12 individuals. In all, we surveyed 44 territories in South Texas of which 34 (77%) were occupied. Of the 18 territories in the Matagorda Island National Wildlife Refuge survey area (MINWR), 14 (78%) were occupied. In the Laguna Atascosa National Wildlife Refuge (LANWR) area, 20 out of 26 (77%) territories surveyed were occupied. Overall, these results were similar to those observed during the 2010 survey.

Observations showed a slight increase in the southern Texas population, suggesting stability despite the recent years of suboptimal weather and habitat conditions. The occupancy rate for the LANWR area increased from last year's 75% to this season's 77%, this being the second year in a row showing an increase. We were encouraged by the lower presence of unpaired adult females on territories during 2011, particularly in the LANWR area. However, we still observed juvenile males paired with adult females. While this could indicate a deficit in the reserve of nonbreeding adult males (floaters), the presence of juvenile males shows recruitment of young into the breeding population and nest success during the prior breeding season. On MINWR, all facets of the population continue to remain stable with regard to falcons occupying territories and prey populations appearing adequate.

Of the occupied territories in both survey areas, we observed 23 pairs that were incubating or possibly brooding small young (14 LANWR, 9 MINWR), two pairs that were brooding chicks (1 LANWR, 1 MINWR), eight pairs that were not yet incubating at the completion of the survey, and one pair that failed in the LANWR area for unknown reasons. Since fall 2010. South Texas has received very little rainfall; the area was very dry, dusty, and developing drought conditions were showing in the vegetation. The dry conditions were very unfortunate considering the area had recently received, during the 2010 spring, much needed relief from one of the most severe droughts in recorded history. Nonetheless, the falcons looked healthy and were often seen with full crops early in the morning, indicating their prey was easily captured. Despite the developing dry conditions along the coast, the prev available to the falcons seems more than adequate.

In the Chihuahuan Desert of New Mexico and West Texas during 2011, we observed two breeding pairs, which successfully fledged five young.

Vest Structures

We placed three new nest structures: one on San Jose Island and two in the LANWR area. We also serviced 36 nest structures to ensure they were suitable for use during the nesting season. Most structures required a minimal amount of maintenance. The new structure design has effectively ensured their use by Aplomado Falcons only. It provides the nesting pair and their young security from predation.





Bill Heinrich releasing a Peregrine Falcon in the 1980s (left), and with Tom Cade, holding a Peregrine in 2010 (inset).

Bill Heinrich, whose work with The Peregrine Fund to restore endangered birds of prey spans 36 years, received the Raptor Research Foundation's 2011 Tom Cade Award. The award is presented each year to an individual who has made a significant contribution to the field of raptor recovery.

"Beginning in 1975 when reintroduction techniques were in their infancy, Bill has been at the forefront of testing and refining these techniques to the extent that they are now being successfully applied on reintroduction projects throughout the world," said Ruth Tingay, president of the foundation, an international scientific organization.

Heinrich has worked with The Peregrine Fund since its earliest years, starting as a field technician in the successful project to save the endangered Peregrine Falcon from extinction. Now, he oversees the organization's efforts to recover two other endangered species: California Condor and Aplomado Falcon.

A skilled falconer, Heinrich has trained many biologists and conservationists in the practice of releasing captive-bred chicks to the wild. "Bill has been personally responsible for hiring a generation of approximately 1,000 hack-site attendants, of whom a considerable number have since developed careers in the conservation field," Tingay said.

N

American Kestrel Partnership



he American Kestrel is North America's smallest and most colorful and common falcon, but it is also becoming scarce in many regions. To find out why, The Peregrine Fund spent much of 2011 developing an exciting new project that took flight in April 2012.

The American Kestrel Partnership is an international research program designed to conserve kestrel populations in North America and the Western Hemisphere. It unites the ability of citizen scientists to generate data with the research expertise of professional scientists by partnering wildlife researchers and managers with families, teachers, students, birders, wildlife enthusiasts, photographers, falconers, and anyone who wants their children and grandchildren to marvel at this little falcon. And it fosters a deeper understanding of science and appreciation for birds of prey by engaging the public in hands-on research.

The American Kestrel is an ideal candidate for this type of project because, like bluebirds, the kestrel has a strong affinity for breeding in nest boxes. This means that individuals can make valuable contributions to kestrel biology simply by installing a nest box, counting the number of eggs and young produced during a nesting season, and entering the data on the American Kestrel Partnership's interactive website. The website also provides research and educational resources and a network for partners to correspond and share experiences.

The American Kestrel Partnership is rapidly developing into the largest kestrel research and conservation program in history. Thanks to support from our donors and supporters, the Partnership's contributions to kestrel biology and conservation will be long-term and unprecedented, ultimately ensuring conservation of American Kestrel populations well into the future.

For more information, visit kestrel.peregrinefund.org



16





Our webcam features a kestrel nest box with the Boise foothills as a backdrop, plus a view inside the box. See it at kestrel.peregrinefund.org

Public Participation

The Partnership is promoting public participation in science by building a community of citizen and professional scientists focused on advancing kestrel research and conservation. Public participation fosters positive attitudes towards science and conservation by providing hands-on research experiences and feedback illustrating the impact of individual and collective contributions. We are developing education and outreach material, including youth-oriented curricula adhering to national educational standards for use in the field or classroom. Education resources are available on the Partnership's website or by mail.

Opposite: Gemma Munck assisted with banding a young kestrel last June near Bend, Oregon.

Left: a close-up look at a male kestrel, one of the Raptor Ambassadors at the World Center for Birds of Prey.

Partners

The project includes a diverse array of partners, from individual enthusiasts to large organizations. The primary means of contributing as a partner is by generating data from existing nest-box monitoring programs and/or establishing new nest-box monitoring programs. We also are seeking professional scientist partners to (1) generate data and models for fledgling and adult demographic and toxicological parameters, and (2) use existing and future nest-box monitoring data to model and understand the relationships between environmental factors and nesting parameters. We are encouraging education professionals to enlist as partners and contribute to the design, implementation, and sharing of education materials based on nestbox monitoring and kestrel conservation.

▼ Interactive Website

The primary means for promoting networking, data generation and sharing, collaborative research, and distribution of research and education resources is an interactive website modeled after social networking, such that partners have individualized and customizable profiles. The website also provides engaging activities, such as identifying prey items from streaming nest-box video; participating in discussion forums; recruiting, assisting, and collaborating with new partners; and competing in photo, art, and data competitions.

Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program



Conservation is a global priority in the Neotropics, a region extending from southern Mexico to the southern tip of Argentina and including the Galapagos,

Falklands, and West Indies islands. About one-third of the world's birds of prey occur in this important region.

In the 1980s, The Peregrine Fund began focusing on the Harpy Eagle, Orange-breasted Falcon, and other Neotropical birds of prey. These wide-ranging predators need large tracts of undisturbed land in which to forage and nest, but their habitat is under constant threat of destruction. We are researching the ecological requirements for birds of prey so that they and all the plants and animals that comprise their fragile food webs can be preserved. We are training and supporting Latin American graduate students to do research and develop local capacity for sustainable conservation, and we are working with local communities to effect conservation solutions.



0

8

Ω.

ANNUA



Results

Four juvenile Ridgway's Hawks perch along a fenceline at the Punta Cana release site in Dominican Republic; biologists invited local children to observe the birds with scopes and binoculars (inset). The Peregrine Fund's timetested, hands-on, science-based approach to conservation has both a unique and valuable role for conservation in the Neotropics. A significant investment now in the Neotropics will strongly influence conservation actions and raptor research for decades, if not longer. As forests are rapidly diminishing, return for investment, especially in Latin America and the Caribbean, will likely never be as great as during the next 10 years.

We achieve results through several projects under the umbrella of this program, including: Harpy

Eagle Conservation and Research Project, in Darien, Panama (page 20); Harpy Eagle Restoration Project, in Panama and Belize (page 21); Orange-breasted Falcon Project, in Belize and Guatemala (page 22);West Indies (Caribbean) Raptor Conservation Project, especially Ridgway's Hawk Recovery in Dominican Republic, and others (page 24); Neotropical Science (raptor research) and Student Education (capacity development) Project, throughout Latin America and the Caribbean (page 25); and Neotropical Raptor Network and Neotropical raptor conferences (page 27).

Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program



n 2000, The Peregrine Fund began studying the largest known wild population of Harpy Eagles in Central America, located in the Darien Province in Panama, building on field work that began in 1992.

The wild Darien birds are important as a "source population" that could restore eagles to places where people have shot them out of their remaining habitat. Through this project, we have established a replicable model that involves training local residents, conducting research and environmental education, and building awareness and involvement in communities that must learn to co-exist with Harpy Eagles.

Causes of Mortality

We aim to quantify natural and anthropogenic causes of mortality. To this end, we follow up the reports of birds that are removed from the natural ecosystems (wounded or dead) and try to determine the cause of mortality. In FY11, two adult Harpy Eagles were shot by humans.

Monitoring

To find active Harpy Eagle pairs and measure productivity, we monitored the breeding status of 44 known Harpy Eagle nest locations from an estimated 33 breeding pairs. We located six active nests: four of them with young juveniles, and two with adults in courtship and rebuilding their nests. Eighty-two percent of the known territories had no reproductive activity this year, and at least 50% of the territories did not show any breeding activity in the last two years. Most of these inactive territories are located in or near human-disturbed areas.

Habitat loss is the long-term problem that could affect persistence of Harpy Eagles, as well as the productivity of known nests in the study area. Using GIS tools and satellite images, we quantified that the forest cover decreased by 2.13% in two years, with most of this forest loss occurring in lowland areas where we know that Harpy Eagles prefer to establish their breeding territories. Probably the effects of forest degradation have direct influence on the productivity of around 50% of the known territories. Actions to reduce forest degradation by humans are needed in order to protect Harpy Eagle habitat.

Preliminary analysis of the microhabitat (data from the vegetation in 26 study plots) used by juvenile Harpy Eagles suggests that they are able to tolerate heterogeneous environments, dominated by a matrix of secondary forest, with natural corridors that connect patches of forest. We observed and documented that some juveniles use disturbed forest to hunt during the day and the mature forest to roost and rest at night. This information reinforces our goal to continue collecting bio-ecological data (movements, diet, microhabitat use, and behavior) to better understand the species' requirements. This year, we collected data from one juvenile and one adult using VHF telemetry. We also collected data from one adult using satellite telemetry.



In FY11, we archived data on movements, dispersal, and landscape use of a captive-bred and released juvenile Harpy Eagle called KC. This eaglet was released in La Marea in March 2009. and now her center of activity is in the forest around the Punta Caracol area (close to Jaque community), approximately 70 kilometers from the release site. In May, we tried to find KC using VHF telemetry without success. Probably the battery of this transmitter is used up. The data from the GPS-PTT suggested that KC is still alive and is using good quality forest between Punta Caracol. Puerto Piña Research. and Jacque community.

Education and Training

We contributed to increasing local capacity through training two biology students in field data collection, microhabitat characterization, data storage, and analysis. Also, we reinforced training of seven technicians and four volunteers in research and education techniques.

We conducted two workshops to get ideas about how local people could help us better conserve and protect the Harpy Eagle and its habitat. When conservation actions come from the core community, the results could be stronger and more durable and, therefore, more beneficial for conservation. We use dynamic

2

Ч

0



A pair of Harpy Eagles near their nest in Panama. The difference in eye coloration is very rare.

and interactive activities to exchange knowledge with adults and children during environmental activities in five indigenous communities. We conducted a drawing contest entitled "How we could help the Harpy Eagle in the Darien forest" involving children from the local communities, and participated in FestiHarpia, an environmental activity that was started by The Peregrine Fund and is now organized by the National Environmental Authority of Panama.

Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program

Harpy Eagle Restoration

arpy Eagles are endangered in Central America and could become threatened in South America. Challenges include loss of pristine lowland forests, lack of proper connectivity between suitable habitat, and people who shoot and kill them.

The Peregrine Fund's handson work with Harpy Eagles began in 1990 with captive breeding and releases to the wild in Panama and Belize. The captive breeding phase ended in 2006 and the last birds were released in 2008. We now monitor released eagles in the wild, continuing to build knowledge and experience that will be useful in ensuring the survival of this and other large forest raptors.

🔻 Results

Conservation projects for the Harpy Eagle are key to its longterm survival and the on-going preservation of the large tracts of forest on which the eagle depends. By making the techniques used and expertise gained by our field biologists available to others working with large forest eagles, we hope to provide support and guidance to other similar conservation efforts taking place across the globe. Highlights of our program include:

- Successfully and predictably breeding Harpy Eagles in captivity
- Releasing a total of 46 Harpy Eagles in Belize and Panama
- Determining that eagles released at an older age (18 months) had a 100% survival rate to independence
- Gathering important data on diet, dispersal,and home ranges for this species

Harpy Eagle monitoring occurred in Panama and Belize during 2011. We continued to monitor released eagles tagged with PTT and VHF telemetry. Eagles released in Belize have covered long distances and have traveled into Mexico and the Peten region of Guatemala.

🔻 Panama

We conducted helicopter and ground surveys on land owned by Minera, S.A. on the north side of central Panama, and located a pair of Harpy Eagles on a nest on 10 May 2011. We provided recommendations on how to conserve the habitat needed by this pair and provided education to local employees to help prevent the possibility of persecution.

All young Harpy Eagles that hatched at the Neotropical Raptor Center have been released and are independent of our care in the wild. Female KD began to exhibit some signs of aggression toward visitors to Soberania National Park in early 2011. She was trapped and is being held in captivity. Wild sub-adult female LV, who had been shot in Darien, Panama, and brought to our facilities for care, continues to do well after her release into Soberania National Park. Wild female HE. shot in Darien and rehabilitated before release into Soberania National Park, continues to do well. Females MA and LB, and males ET and BY, are all independent birds in Soberania National Park whose transmitters have failed. If

reported by others, we will attempt to trap these birds to replace radios and look for evidence of them breeding in the wild. The fate of our captive-bred and released eagle (KC) in Darien is currently unknown, with the last message received on 4 August 2011.

V Belize

Female Blue LG's signal has been lost, but it is likely that the transmitter on her battery has malfunctioned. Last we knew, she was in Rio Bravo, where she continued to do well. Female Blue MY's signal was recently lost, but we believe she is still alive and currently in Rio Bravo and doing well. Female Blue MX was seen in Tikal National Park, Guatemala, in November 2007 and again in 2010 just outside the park. Her radio has failed so we have no way to track her survival and dispersal further. Male BM was re-trapped in Panama and released in Rio Bravo, Belize, in 2009. In 2010 he flew to Guatemala, where he spent many months in the forests close to the Belize/Guatemala border. In May 2011 we received word that he had been shot and was being held at a rehabilitation facility in Guatemala. We flew to Guatemala to help treat the bird, but he did not survive.

Orange-breasted Falcon Project

Two decades of intensive research confirm that the Orange-breasted Falcon occupies only 4% of its historical range in Central America with a known breeding population numbering fewer than 40 territorial pairs. Occupied territories in our study area in Belize and Guatemala are in decline, and the numbers of young fledged declined 35% in a single decade. The small northern population appears isolated from the larger South American population with a high risk of extirpation.

We believe the cumulative effects of habitat alteration, fragmentation, and increasing predation and competition from Black Vultures, whose abundance has increased along with the human population, may explain the species' decline. As the population decreases, the inexorable effects of small population dynamics (diminished genetic variation, small range, low reproductive rate, etc.) increase local extinction risk. We aim to bolster the population of this charismatic rainforest icon by introducing unrelated captive-bred falcons to enhance genetic variation and fitness, stabilize recruitment deficits, and help mitigate further population declines.

Results

In 2011, we released two male and three female captive-bred Orange-breasted Falcons that were cared for under the watchful eve of a sub-adult male from the prior year's release that we fondly refer to as B1 (the white numerals on his blue color band). We were thrilled to discover B1 at the hack site the day we began the season's renovations in early June. B1 remained and fed at the site all summer and earned his keep by protecting the juveniles, sounding the alarm when threatening raptors appeared, particularly the Black-and-white Hawk-eagle, and by leading aggressive aerial counter attacks against vultures, the local pair of Red-tailed Hawks, various kite species, a White Hawk, and the dreaded hawk-eagle. During the juveniles' long summer dependency, we provided their food as they engaged in endless aerobatic games of chase, catch me if you can, or take away my stick or pine cone, followed by lethal attacks on hapless flying insects dismembered deftly in flight. We interpret these games as play, although the juveniles were honing their critical flying and hunting skills for the deadly serious game of survival. Beginning in late August, diurnal



migrants from the north (Barn and Cliff Swallows, Purple Martins, etc.) make their perilous journey south across the Maya Mountains, providing a narrow window of opportunity that enables the young falcons to tune their hunting skills, become independent from our handouts, and disperse before the smorgasbord ends in November. We do not know if they follow the diminishing migrants into the mountain foothills and lowlands or continue to hunt within the mountain massif like adult falcons.

A wild female Orange-breasted Falcon, thought to be an unmated sub-adult, visited the hack site on 10 separate occasions between 27 June and 23 July, often bringing various dismembered food

N

C

0

£

0

0

ш

œ

∢

z

~

items, only one of which we could identify as a Blue-crowned Motmot, that she shared with the juveniles. Significantly on 29 October, after the juveniles had dispersed, a wild adult female was observed and photographed at the hack site perched with B1 and again the first week of November. These small successes were groundbreaking news for our crew! We constructed a new hack tower at the site in the fall. The current tree-mounted hack box remains, in case B1 considers it his natal evrie and wishes to nest there. We can only speculate what might occur in the next breeding season if the wild female reappears as a mate. Will the pair attempt to nest? Will they gravitate to a local cliff? Will they or B1 accept a new crop of young falcons?

B1 was observed at the hack site all fall and winter and most recently on 28 February 2012, although his mild demeanor had changed. His aggressive territorial behavior towards our biologist leaves little doubt that the falcon has assumed ownership of the site and we are trespassers.

Release

There are no blueprints or field guides to follow for release of a tropical falcon species other than our own experience with hacking and reestablishing temperate species. Nearly every day is a learning experience and we are proud that our attendants have all been totally dedicated

to the welfare of the birds throughout the long and arduous four- to five-month season, from pre-dawn to dusk, replete with biting insects, inclement weather, flash floods, and hazardous roads. beginning in mid-June and only ending when they must reluctantly leave in the fall for other pursuits. Our year-round survey personnel check the site thereafter and place food on the platform as needed. Even after the birds are feeding themselves in September and October and are absent for many days in succession, they often return to the platform looking for a handout and to let us know that they are fine and not to worry. We do worryconstantly-like any mother throughout the perils and challenges of growing up.

Natural History

The Orange-breasted Falcon is a brilliantly colored, mediumsized tropical forest counterpart of the Peregrine Falcon. The species has probably always been rare and sparsely distributed because of its specialized habitat requirements: typically remote areas of towering cliffs where it nests in river valleys or near water, associated with vast expanses of moist mature tropical or sub-tropical forest. Similar to the Peregrine, the species hunts a wide variety of local and migrant bird species and bats. Females are crow-sized, nearly twice the mass of males, and are proportionately the most heavily armed of any

falcon species, which enables them to quickly dispatch biting quarry such as parrots and aids in nest defense from ground and avian predators. Their reproductive life span is unknown, but probably similar to other larger falcons at between 12 and 15 years, commencing at age three. Its long reproductive life is offset by a relatively small clutch size, high nest failure greater than 50%, and juvenile mortality that may reach 40-70%. The species is non-migratory occupying its nesting territory year-round and caring for its young until they disperse in the fall.

Distribution

The species' historic range once extended from Veracruz, Mexico, south through Central America and South America to northern Argentina. In Middle America, its known range has contracted to the Maya Mountains of Belize and the Mirador Basin Cordillera (the southern Petén) of Guatemala, despite large areas of apparently suitable habitat in parts of Mexico, Honduras, Nicaragua, Costa Rica, and Panama. Four pairs are known near the Colombian border in Darien Province of Panama, 1500 km from the northern population. Distribution in South America is largely confined to the eastern slope of the Andes south to Bolivia and Paraguay and along the north coast of Venezuela, Guyana, Surinam, and French Guiana, with a few isolated records throughout

Brazil with less than a dozen confirmed breeding records. We are encouraged by approximately 60 confirmed citizen scientist records submitted to Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology's eBird in the past two years, including a tree nesting pair near Manaus and a cliff nest in the Atlantic Forest Region of Brazil. While these records increase our knowledge of the species' current distribution, it will take decades for population trends to develop, barring commencement of aerial and ground natural history studies that are daunting for a species so remote and widely dispersed. With the increasing numbers of eco-lodges, tour guides, and skilled field observers, the modest numbers of recently confirmed records by themselves support the species' rarity.

Left: Captive-bred sub-adult male B1 surveys "his territory." His singular presence helped protect the juveniles from eagle attacks and provided a glimmer of hope for the species' future.



N

0

N

0

z

~

л

m т

0

고

VScience

We are making significant progress in understanding the species' global population biology and factors limiting its distribution and abundance by studying the northern population. Thirty years ago, our knowledge was limited to a few sight records in the literature and some sketchy notes attached to 19th and early 20th century museum specimens with a single breeding record on a Mayan Temple in Tikal National Park, Guatemala. In the late 1970s. The Peregrine Fund began to assemble this sparse information and started field studies in Ecuador, Peru, and Guatemala, A few pairs were located in Ecuador, but their habitat was logged and one pair shot. Tikal National Park became our base of operations, later expanded to a decade-long ecological study focused on raptors known as the Maya Project. In 1991, The Peregrine Fund began a six-year natural history study on the Orange-breasted Falcon in Guatemala and Belize that culminated in the unprecedented discovery of 19 nesting territories, 13 in Belize and six in Guatemala, establishing a critical baseline for future investigations. Beginning in 2003, the study area was expanded and 11 additional nesting territories were located in the remote and rugged southern Maya Mountains for a total of 24, and a single new territory was added in Guatemala. Aerial surveys in Guatemala, Honduras, and Mexico have been unsuccessful,

2

Ч

0

N

Ч

0

N

F

£

0

٩

ш

£

A L

z

z

<

consistent with previously unproductive surveys throughout Central America in 1999–2000. Cornell's eBird has not confirmed a single sighting in Central America outside our study area, despite a wide network of observers, providing further contemporary evidence of the species' isolation.

We are partnering with the University of Wyoming's Population Biology and Ecology faculty in modeling the Belize and Guatemala falcon population using population viability analysis. Modeling will calculate statistical survival patterns that may help future management decisions. We are also partnering with Jeff Johnson at the University of North Texas to confirm by microsatellite DNA analysis gene flow within the northern population and the degree of genetic variability within the wild population and our captive population. We maintain an ongoing partnership with the Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology's eBird program to identify Orangebreasted Falcon records throughout the species' range.

Captive Propagation and Release

Initial efforts by The Peregrine Fund to establish a breeding colony of Orange-breasted Falcons in 1980s and 1990s failed and only two young were raised in 1985. In 2001, we began collecting the current captive colony of 24 falcons, 11 wild founders from Panama and two from Belize and nine captive-bred F1 progeny. Of the more than 20 raptor species commonly bred in captivity, the Orangebreasted Falcon is by far the most difficult to maintain and propagate in captivity. Nonetheless, we have produced 40 falcons since 2006, including two visually impaired females in 2011 that are not included in the breeding colony above. We have released 26 captive-bred falcons since 2007. Seventeen reached independence, five were presumed killed by Black-and-white Hawk-eagles, and four disappeared and are presumed dead. After moving the hack site to a high knob on the end of a long narrow peninsular ridge with steep near-vertical ~800 m canyons on three sides, now known colloquially as Bob's Point, 11 of 13 juveniles hacked in 2009 -2011 reached independence and dispersed. The Point offers the superiority of air space in which to maneuver in the event of an aerial attack from other raptors. Only two of our released falcons have returned to their hack site the following year, and none are known to have taken up residence at any of the abundant local cliffs. As the numbers of surviving released birds reach breeding age (more than three years in captivity), we will be surveying the local cliffs in earnest, hoping to see a colorbanded resident falcon (red for a female and blue for a male, with bold white numerals). Any report verified by a photo will be rewarded with a hero's welcome.

Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program



West Indies Raptor Conservation Project

The Peregrine Fund has the only conservation project for birds of prey in the West Indies, a chain of Caribbean islands stretching from Florida to Venezuela. We currently are focused on the Ridgway's Hawk, which lives exclusively on Hispaniola, an island shared by Haiti and Dominican Republic.

The Peregrine Fund began studying this species in 2000 and formed a partnership with the Hispaniola Ornithological Society in 2007. Our joint experiment to assist the dispersal of young wild birds from threatened areas to safer ones is proving successful. Problems with shooting and deforestation are being addressed with local education and awareness campaigns.

Results

After a decade of thoroughly searching, surveying, and monitoring this population, we have determined that only about 300 individual birds comprise the entire global population of this species. This small and isolated population of Ridgway's Hawks leaves the species extremely vulnerable to extinction through catastrophic events such as fire, hurricane, or disease. To reduce this risk, in 2008 we began an experimental "assisted dispersal" project to learn if breeding pairs could be reestablished in the species' former range outside of Los Haitises National Park. Young birds were collected from nests about one week prior to fledging age. They were fed in a hack-box (a protective aviary) at the release site until fledging age, then released by removing the bars on the front side of the box. The fledged birds were fed daily at the box for several weeks until they reached independence.

The first release in 2008 successfully fledged four young hawks at Loma la Herradura, 40 miles south of the national park on private land owned by Central Romana, Inc., the largest company in Dominican Republic. This site was used again in 2009

and a second release site was established at Punta Cana, a private resort and land holding company 100 miles from the park.

Monitoring

In February and March 2011, 36 nesting territories were monitored at Los Limones. These 36 pairs produced 50 eggs, of which 41 hatched, 20 fledged successfully and 21 died. Of the 21 young hawks that died, seven deaths were caused by Philornis fly infestations, three died from predation, one died in a wildfire, and 10 died from unknown causes. Thirteen nestlings were treated for parasites and seven nests on palm fronds were reinforced to keep them from falling; one nest was rebuilt after it had fallen down. During March, two hawks at Punta Cana (one from 2009 and one from 2010 releases) and one at Herradura (2010 release) were trapped and fitted with new transmitters for continued monitoring. In April 2011 a new release box was built at Loma la Herradura to replace the box that had deteriorated from four seasons of use, and the release box at Punta Cana was modified to prevent Turkey Vultures from taking food off the box.

V Releases

In May, of the 14 young fledging from the 34 young available at Los Limones that were used for the assisted dispersal releases, three died due to the *Philornis* fly prior to being released. The 11



Ridgway's Hawks are relocated just before they reach fledging age.

remaining young hawks were transferred to both release sites. All fledged successfully from the release sites, but during the end of July and early August at Punta Cana two died, one from electrocution and one from human persecution. Habitat degradation, human persecution, and parasites appear to be the primary causes for decline of the Ridgway's Hawk.

Public Education

We began addressing these problems in 2004 in partnership with the Hispaniola Ornithological Society (SOH) through a program of public education and awareness. The campaign occurs every year in communities near Los Haitises National Park. In 2011, SOH and The Peregrine Fund visited three communities, reaching 94 young adults at Los Limones, 102 adults and 16 children at Gonzalo, and seven children and one adult at Lambadera. At the two release sites, SOH and The Peregrine Fund provided presentations to 620 students, 454 employees at Punta Cana and Cap Cana, and 534 locals and employees of Central Romana, Inc. at Pedro Sanchez, the community nearest to the Herradura release.

The Suilding Local Capacity

In Dominican Republic, we are developing local capacity for raptor conservation by supporting and training biological field assistants from Los Limones. Biodiversity and conservation training has been provided to several park guards and local persons from communities bordering the park, especially in the Los Limones area. They are assisting in monitoring the nesting pairs of Ridgway's Hawks within the park. Several assistants have conducted the assisted dispersal releases of young Ridgway's Hawks to private and protected land holdings owned by Central Romana, Inc. the largest national company in Dominican Republic, and Grupo Punta Cana.

Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program



he region from southern Mexico to Argentina and including the Galapagos, Falklands, and Caribbean islands-the Neotropicscontains dozens of species of birds of prey, including many that are at risk and about which little is known. In 2005, The Peregrine Fund began addressing the urgent need to develop local capacity for raptor research and conservation by providing support to students conducting thesis research projects related to Neotropical birds of prey.

Our goal is to conserve biodiversity and enable people to co-exist with birds of prey. We believe that solid science and credible information will enable communities and policy-makers to find effective ways of conserving birds of prey and their habitat.

Results

Financial support and supervision were provided to six students conducting thesis research projects for three doctorates and three master of science degrees. One student graduated and earned his master's degree, and three completed their field work. We also supported two non-thesis research projects: monitoring and protection of a wild Harpy Eagle pair in Belize, and research and conservation of Andean Condors in Ecuador. We provided ongoing supervision to the Harpy Eagle Conservation and Restoration Projects in Panama and Belize.

V Peru

Diurnal raptor community in northwestern Peru: Field data collection was completed and data analysis was initiated along with writing of four thesis chapters. The introduction chapter of the Ph.D. thesis was written addressing topics related to taxonomy, distribution, diversity, endemism, morphology, migration, habitats, diet, hunting, threats, conservation of world raptors, and the status and extent of knowledge of raptors in Peru. Statistical analysis was performed using software DISTANCE of data collected

in 70 plots to calculate absolute densities of 15 raptor species that inhabit four different habitats in extreme northwest Peru.

V Argentina

N

H

0

, –

, –

0

N

£

0

٩

ш

£

A L

z

Z ∀

Crowned Eagle in Central Argentina: Ten nests of Crowned Eagles were monitored by direct observation and video cameras. In addition to diet, the division of roles and parental care during incubation and chick-rearing periods were studied. During the incubation period, three pairs were filmed for 275 hours. During the chick-rearing period, eight pairs were filmed for 941 hours and were directly observed for 232 hours. Six Crowned Eagles were found dead due to shooting, electrocution, and drowning. Informal presentations and conferences were delivered to local farmers and schools, respectively, within the study area. Video recording of Crowned Eagles eating poisonous snakes (the main prey in study area) were shown.

Potential Crowned Eagle Reintroduction: Our partners in Argentina, Uruguay, and Brazil were consulted on their interest in this potential reintroduction project and on the availability of suitable habitat for Crowned Eagles at locations where populations became extinct and where reintroduction is needed. In May 2011, visits were made to the Reserve El Potrero in Argentina and nearby areas in Uruguay. The preliminary assessment is that there is interest for this project in the three countries.

Figure Ecuador

Galapagos Hawk before and after goat removal: Field data collection of prey deliveries was completed and data analysis initiated. The last field season was concluded, in which a total of seven nests were observed with 137 prey items delivered. This makes a total of 18 nests monitored after goat removal to compare to the19 nests observed before goat removal. As vegetation recovered, the hawks did not switch to more arboreal prey as predicted, although there were significant effects of vegetation on prey. Preliminary analysis of prey biomass suggests that Black Rats (Rattus rattus) constitute the main prey of hawks after goat eradication. Live-rat trapping was conducted at 14 hawk territories in order to estimate changes in abundance and density after goat eradication.

Ecology and demography of Galapagos Hawks: Census, assessments of reproductive activity, and evaluation of group membership of territorial hawks were completed on James Bay and Sullivan Bay study sites. Surveys for unpaired adults were conducted for 10 days for a total of 80 surveys. Twenty-six hawks were banded and blood samples collected for genetic and health evaluation. We assisted Charles Darwin Foundation and Galapagos National Park



Edwin Campbell monitoring Harpy Eagles and other raptors in Darien, Panama. Edwin earned his MSc degree in 2011 at the Federal University of Mato-grosso do Sul, Brazil.

Service with Galapagos Hawk mitigation during rat eradication on Rabida and Bainbridge islands.

Movements and habitat use of Andean Condors: A research permit was obtained, key partnerships were developed, and funding was raised. We also prepared for the initiation of an Andean Condor study in northern Ecuador. Partnerships were developed with Fundacion Condor, Fundacion Jocotoco, Fundacion Galo Plaza Lasso and Comuna Zuleta to conduct research aimed at condor conservation. Protocols were developed for capturing and marking Andean Condors in Ecuador. Scientific advice was provided to the Ministry of Environment through the Andean Condor Working Group for the implementation of the Andean Condor Conservation Strategy.

Aviary enhancement for environmental education: A partnership was developed with Foundation Condor that manages Parque Condor, the first raptor rehabilitation and environmental education center in Ecuador that uses birds of prey to talk about environmental problems. The park is visited annually by 30,000 people. The main attractions are Andean Condors and our famous Harpy Eagle, Olafa. We provided support to build an exhibit that will house two Harpy Eagles.

🔻 Brazil

Raptor community assessment in central Brazil: This project is in the initial phase and the first two visits to the Cerrado and Pantanal biomes of Mato Grosso do Sul State took place in July 2010 and February 2011 during the dry and wet seasons, respectively, to become familiar with the study area and design adequate methodologies for the Ph.D. thesis project. Nine survey routes were selected totaling approximately 2,340 km. Six of these routes are located within the Cerrado and three within the Pantanal. Preliminary analysis suggests seasonal variation in the community structure and strong variation in the population of certain species, for each biome and climatic season. Twenty-three species were recorded, including four vultures, one Osprey, six kites, seven hawks, three falcons, and two caracaras.

Costa Rica

Owls (Strigiformes) of secondary tropical forest: Field data collection was completed, analysis initiated, and thesis writing begun. Nocturnal surveys were completed in March 2011. The study provides data on the distribution. species richness, and composition of owls along an altitudinal gradient ranging from 0 to 1200 m. Eight species of owls were recorded.

Belize

Monitoring a wild Harpy Eagle nest: We supported a project conducted by Belize Foundation for Research and Environmental Education to monitor, study, and protect the most northerly known

nest, nestling, and breeding pair of Harpy Eagles in the Americas. A GPS-PPT and VHF transmitter were attached to a juvenile Harpy Eagle to track its movement patterns and survival after fledging.

V Panama

Harpy Eagle Conservation: Analysis indicated that Harpy Eagles in Darien nest at 4-6 nests/ 100 km², with each breeding pair occupying 24 to 16 km² of forest, respectively. This nesting density is the highest reported for the species throughout its breeding range. By extrapolating the nesting density in Darien to the entire area of Panama with suitable habitat at elevations below 350 m, we estimated that Panama's Harpy Eagle population size could range between 806-1,208 pairs.

Panama and Belize

Harpy Eagle Restoration: In FY11, we made significant progress in analysis of Harpy Eagle release data. We found that eagles released at 18 months of age or older showed increased survival and shorter dependence periods than eagles released at 5-7months of age. Hacking proved to be a suitable method for releasing captive-bred Harpy Eagles into the wild, but was more efficient for these large, long-lived, tropical forest eagles when delayed from fledging age, when falconers' traditionally hack falcons, to near the Harpy Eagle's age of independence at 23 months.

Neotropical Raptor Network ommunication is vital to those working in the Neotropics-a large region

Neotropical Raptor Conservation Program

spanning southern Mexico to Argentina and including the Caribbean islands. Little is known about many of the raptors here, despite being excellent indicators of the region's ecological health.

The Peregrine Fund began developing the Neotropical Raptor Network in 2003 on encouragement from attendees of the 2002 Neotropical Raptor Conference and Harpy Eagle Symposium in Panama. We produce a semiannual newsletter and maintain a website and list server for the network. These steps have proven effective for tracking down lines of investigation and putting researchers in touch with those on the leading edge of Neotropical raptor conservation.

Results

The Neotropics represent some of the greatest biodiversity on Earth, and despite the presence of numerous scientists, conservationists, and naturalists in the region, much remains to be discovered about the flora and fauna found there. Raptors can serve as indicators of the overall health of an ecosystem and are an important component in maintaining this health. There are more than 90 species of raptors throughout Latin America and the Caribbean and many of them are rare and little known.

The Neotropical Raptor Network is a forum to bring researchers, students, and conservationists together to compare notes, work cooperatively, and improve their efforts to understand and protect this unique group of birds. The features of the network are a web-based list server, website, and electronic newsletter, and conference that will be held periodically.

Communications

The list server is intended to provide an informal discussion forum on issues pertaining to birds of prey in the Neotropics. All discussion and information posted on the list server is stored and archived so that people may review past dialogues. Membership to the list-server continued to grow in 2011, with the number of members increasing from 316 to 347.

A webpage written in Spanish and English (www.neotropicalraptors.org) serves as a home to the network. Semiannual newsletters containing popular articles from members, updates on network activities, and general information pertaining to Neotropical birds of prey are published and archived on the website. The 10th and 11th e-newsletters, Spizaetus, were published in English, Spanish, and Portuguese. We obtained a separate ISSN for each language version of the publication. Some changes were made to the website design.

Raptor Symposium

The Neotropical Ornithological Conference (NOC) Scientific Committee accepted our proposal for a raptor symposium on *Micrastur* and *Leucopternis*, which was held in conjunction with the NOC in November 2011 in Peru. We will convene a joint raptor conference in Bariloche, Argentina, in October 2013. Other participating groups will include Raptor Research Foundation and the World Working Group on Birds of Prey and Owls.

Τ

0

ᆔ

N

0

Ч

N

Pan Africa Raptor Conservation Program



n Africa and associated islands, birds of prey are threatened by people unintentionally poisoning them, shooting them for food or sport, and killing them for superstitious reasons. Explosive

human population growth and rising demand for more land to cultivate are making it increasingly difficult for birds of prey to survive. To succeed, conservation must move from the historical approach of preservation in parks and reserves to a 21st-century approach of co-existence.

Since 1990, The Peregrine Fund has worked to identify priorities for raptor conservation, train and support African students, and provide direction and communication for those working in this field. The African Raptor Network was established in 2008 with a website and list server so that biologists and enthusiasts can discuss and exchange ideas pertaining to African raptors.



C

 \mathbf{r}

Ω.

A N N U A

A resident of Siana Group ranch examines a photograph of a Black-chested Snake Eagle; graduate student Eric Ole Reson (inset) documents attitudes of the Maasai community towards vultures and other birds of prey.





Results

On the African continent and its associated islands, the human population has grown from 100 million a century ago to nearly 900 million today, resulting in loss of wildlife habitat as people move into and cultivate new areas. With 111 diurnal raptor species and 48 nocturnal owl species, our Pan Africa Project is an "umbrella" approach towards identifying priorities for raptor conservation across the continent and a means of providing direction and communication to help ensure species survival.

Results for the East Africa project (page 30) and Madagascar project (page 32) are described separately.

W Building Local Capacity

We provided a grant for surveys on little-known birds of prey in the Central African Republic's Dzanga-Sangha Special Reserve, including Dzanga-Ndoki National Park, over a five-week period between 5 February and 15 March 2011. Using set abundance categories, 22 raptor species comprising 226 individuals were recorded. Results suggest that two raptor species are common, with one to 10 individuals seen in suitable habitat every day: African Harrier Hawk and Palm Nut Vulture. The majority of species were either uncommon, with only a few individuals recorded during the survey period, or rare, with only one or two records during the survey period. It was not possible to obtain an accurate figure of the density of every species of raptor in a tropical forest within a short time due to the difficulties in effectively censusing birds with low population densities, large territory sizes, and inconspicuous behavior in tall, dense, unbroken tracts of lowland forest.

Hands-on experience of fieldwork and raptor monitoring was provided to a Central African Republic student who received a significant amount of training and experience, such as practical skills, experimental design, basic ornithology, and data management. In addition, some basic raptor survey training was also provided to the local BaAka trackers who acted as guides during the surveys.

List Server and Website

The African Raptor Network list server and website (*www.african raptors.org*) has grown in popularity as a means of exchanging information and ideas among African raptor biologists and enthusiasts. We have begun a series of interviews with eminent raptor biologists who have conducted long-term studies on African raptors to provide mentorship and inspiration to young African students. There are currently 165 members on the list server. The Masai Mara has the largest population of hooved animals in Kenya. They are a vital food source for hundreds of far-ranging vultures, whose populations have declined alarmingly as a result of poisoning.

Pan Africa Raptor Conservation Program



East Africa Project

hen this project began in 1990. the numbers and diversity of birds of prey were declining dramatically in East Africa as people converted wildlife habitat to agriculture and indiscriminately used poisons to kill livestock predators, such as lions and hyenas. When birds of prey ate the poisonlaced carcasses, they died too. Development in the form of power lines and wind turbines will further compound the already existing threats. Vultures, in particular, are the most threatened group of raptors and most in need of protection by governments and communities.

The East Africa project provides training and assistance to students focused on raptor conservation. The Peregrine Fund also partners with the Raptor Working Group to increase public understanding about the need to conserve birds of prey.

Results

The need to monitor and evaluate raptor abundance and diversity, including those of common species, in habitats that were historically their strongholds has never been greater. Six of the eight species of vultures that occur in the East African region are globally threatened, mainly from consuming livestock that has been deliberately poisoned in retaliation for carnivore attacks.

Masai Mara National Reserve

We supported a graduate student who continues to study the effects of human activities on the avian scavenger species found in the Masai Mara National Reserve. This year, the study of habitat use was expanded to include nest site selection and surveys of nests and trees inside and outside the park to assess the availability of appropriate nesting sites in the Masai Mara. In addition, the impact of disturbance on foraging success of the vultures is being assessed, an important issue given the large number of cattle herders that enter the park and use the surrounding area. This project will analyze all findings from the last three years from transects, behavioral work, and a movement study in-

N



volving over 30 GSM-GPS (cellular) transmitters on three different vulture species.

An important finding has demonstrated that *Gyps* vultures have large foraging areas. For example, one Rüppell's Vulture tagged in the Masai Mara has traveled from Kenya to the southwestern parts of Ethiopia, into the northern region of southern Sudan and back-an area of over 600,000 km². Given the threats to avian scavengers from poisoning, this underscores the need to mitigate the risk of poisoning throughout the entire East African region. In addition, wing tagging of vultures continued, important in generating awareness about the importance of vultures through public participation in this research project.

View Northern Kenya

In northern Kenya, we are studying the impacts of vulture population declines on mammalian scavengers and the potential rates of disease transmission via contact at carcasses. In experimental research with simulated vulture population declines, carcasses persisted in the environment more than three times longer than those where vultures were present. The number of scavenging mammals at carcasses increased 16-fold and the time they spent at carcasses also increased 16-fold compared to carcasses where vultures were present.

In addition, there was a 34fold increase in the number of

contacts between mammalian scavengers at carcasses without vultures. These results highlight the important role vultures play in carcass decomposition and moderating contact between mammalian scavengers. This study has important implications for the spread and persistence of diseases at carcasses and highlights the crucial role of vultures in providing important ecosystem services that are not easily replicated by other scavengers. More broadly, the research emphasizes the critical need to protect the world's remaining vulture populations in order to maintain healthy ecosystems that naturally curb the spread of disease.

Darcy Ogada was a co-recipient of the Leslie Brown Memorial Award from the Raptor Research Foundation. The monetary award will help initiate research on vultures in northern Kenya, specifically to put GPS-GSM transmitters on 10-15 vultures to monitor their movements in relation to landuse patterns and poisoning incidents in the region. The project also will work with local Samburu communities to spread awareness about the importance of vultures. The work will be in partnership with the Northern Rangelands Trust and others.

Long-term Studies

We continued to build on our existing long-term studies on raptors, specifically on African Fish Eagles, Augur Buzzards, and Sokoke Scops Owls, to understand how these species are affected by environmental and human-caused habitat changes. Environmental conditions at Lake Naivasha improved for fish eagles this year. Sustained high water levels meant that the regeneration of the papyrus fringe continued to the point where new habitat was created in the form of floating papyrus islands. These islands provided an opportunity for transient fish eagles to seek refuge while attempting to displace territory-holding individuals around the lakeshore. We recorded 129 eagles and an increase in the breeding success rate from 23 (68%) active nests out of 34.

In February, we completed our second annual Kenya raptor road survey. These road surveys are done in partnership with the Raptor Working Group of Nature Kenya and Kenya Wildlife Service and are important for monitoring the health of Kenya's raptor populations. Overall, our results for 2011 did not change considerably from our 2010 surveys with the exception of an influx of Blackshouldered Kites on the northern route, likely due to the recent above-average rainfall.

V Student Training

We conducted a second successful raptor conservation media course for students of St. Lawrence University that provided a practical and mediabased approach on aspects of raptor conservation ecology, photography, and creative writing.

Increasing Public Understanding

In October 2010, we helped organize our second International Vulture Awareness Day at Sekenani Primary School near the Masai Mara National Reserve. The reserve combined with the greater Serengeti ecosystem supports the largest vulture population in East Africa and is a hotspot for wildlife poisoning. More than 300 schoolchildren attended the event and performed plays, dances, and even rap songs about vultures and their importance in the environment. A number of guests spoke to the audience about the harmful effects of poisoning wildlife and the need for greater environmental conservation efforts in the region. Awards were given to the winning entries in our vulturethemed art competition. Key schools were identified for environmental education programs we plan to initiate in the near future. A short video was made about this event and circulated over social networking sites to reach a global audience.

We have developed an education proposal to begin teacher training in the Masai Mara region. The goal is to train teachers and other community workers about raptor conservation and to equip them with the materials they need to disseminate the information in the classroom and other venues where they work. Six of the eight species of vultures that occur in the East African region are globally threatened, mainly from consuming livestock that has been deliberately poisoned in retaliation for carnivore attacks.

2011–2012 🔻 ANNUAL REPOR

Pan Africa Raptor Conservation Program



Madagascar Project



N

H

0

N

0

2

£

0

<u>е</u>

œ

◄

z

~

⊲

A fisherman casts his net on one of the Manambolomaty lakes where Madagascar Fish Eagles breed.

Adagascar's amazing diversity of species found nowhere else on Earth, coupled with a rapid loss of habitat, makes this island

nation one of the world's highest conservation priorities. Since 1990, The Peregrine Fund has been conducting field research on birds of prey and helping create conservation areas that are managed by local residents to protect endangered species.

To further our mission to build local capacity, we also have provided financial support, training, and education to more than 20 Malagasy students seeking advanced science degrees.

Results

This project is working towards protection of three important sites under the Madagascar Protected Areas System. These include two wetland and dry forest sites in western Madagascar (Tsimembo-Manambolomaty and Tambohorano), which help conserve the endangered Madagascar Fish Eagle and other wetland and forest biodiversity. The third site is in the northern region of the country (Bealanana) and protects a unique mosaic of wetlands, marshlands, grasslands, and rainforest fragments. This is where we re-discovered the Madagascar Pochard, a diving duck thought to be extinct and now classified as critically endangered, and the endangered Madagascar Serpenteagle and other threatened and endemic biodiversity.

We continue to assist the community resource management associations in writing and preparing management plans and guidelines for two of the three sites at the regional level, and they are waiting for them to be passed to the national level. We also have submitted all management documents to the national government to create the Tsimembo-Manambolomaty community protected area.

🔻 Manambolomaty

Tsimembo Forest and Masoarivo Mangrove were added to the Manambolomaty Lakes protected area to increase the amount of dry forest and mangrove habitat included in this 62,745 ha conservation area known as the Tsimembo-Manambolomaty Protected Area. We have submitted all pertinent documents to the Malagasy government for approval of this site as a permanent protected area. It currently has temporary protected status.

We supported the communities in planting native tree seedlings for reforestation in Tsimembo Forest. The two local associations, along with help from local students and authorities, planted 8,100 seedling trees. We conducted our annual monitoring of Madagascar Fish Eagles breeding in the Antsalova region and Manambolomaty Lakes Complex, where 26 pairs have been documented producing 19 fledglings.

The local associations are receiving assistance from The Peregrine Fund to manage the Manambolomaty Lakes Complex. They received 22 fiberglass canoes, 84 fish nets, and four efficient fish-drying ovens to reduce the amount of wood fuel collected from adjacent forests. These associations monitor and control human use and impact on fish stocks, forest, and other resources in and around lakes that are critically important for breeding Madagascar Fish Eagles.

🔻 Tambohorano

In the Tambohorano area, we recorded nine pairs of fish eagles. We completed an Environmental Impact Study, and an Orientation and Evaluation Committee was established for management of the Mandrozo Lake Protected Area site (15,145 ha).

The Teabony celebration (traditional event for opening fishing season) occurred on 14 April 2011. From 15 April to 10 June 2011,78 tons of fishery products were recorded by the 150 fishermen at Mandrozo Lake. A local committee for fire prevention, called K3M, began operating with 25 members from the three associations. They received training from the Forest Service Officer of Maintirano in July and were provided uniforms in November by The Peregrine Fund. Seven display panels were installed at the main access points into the Mandrozo Lakes Protected Area during October 2010. These panels provided information on the limit of the new protected area, including information on the status of the area being managed in collaboration with the local communities.

During two annual waterbird surveys (January and July), we recorded 1,933 birds of 28 species. Six of these species are considered threatened. At Mandrozo in January 2011, the three local associations planted 19,492 seedling trees of four native forest species and 4,000 orange trees. Twelve fiberglass canoes and one

PEREGRINE FUND 32 ТНЕ PROJECTS



Nestling Madagascar Fish Eagle. With Peregrine Fund assistance, local associations monitor human use of the lakes to help conserve eagles and other wildlife.

est tree species were collected

fish-drying oven were provided to the local associations.

🔻 Bealanana

To decrease the wildfires and uncontrollable fires inside the Bemanevika Protected Area (37,041 ha), 30 people were selected as a fire prevention committee and equipped with uniforms (clothes, shorts, sandals, and a whistle). During the 2010–2011 reforestation campaign, 4,500 seeds from three forfrom the forest and transplanted by the local associations with around 93% survival rate. In addition, two plant nursery stations were installed where the local associations produce young eucalyptus trees for four villages around the protected area. Of 3,300 eucalyptus seedlings planted, 90% survived.

The Bemanevika Protected Area Orientation and Evaluation Committee was created at the regional level in May 2011. This committee is composed of 14 members led by the Regional Department of Environment and Forestry and includes 11 regional sectorial authorities plus representatives of Bealanana's military police and the two mayors. Three stages of training were provided during November and December 2010 and April 2011 to the local communities to transform the traditional way of cutting down trees to collect honey to a sustainable apiculture system. We provided 15 beehives and accessories to the local trained beekeepers.

The monitoring of Madagascar Pochards continued with the wild population recorded at 29 ducks, including 11 nesting pairs. The site identified for the construction of a permanent captive propagation facility for the Madagascar Pochard by our partners (Wildfowl and Wetlands Trust and Durrell Wildlife Conservation Trust) is slowly moving forward. Four females in the captive flock laid 14 eggs, of which four hatched, and 10 were infertile.

Four radio-tagged Madagascar Red Owls were monitored near the research camp at Matsaborimena Lake, 24 roost sites have been identified, and 200 pellets collected to be analyzed for seasonal food habits. One nesting attempt by Madagascar Serpenteagles was observed; it later failed during the nestling period when the young were observed. A protocol for monitoring lemurs was developed and consisted of counting all lemurs seen or heard along selected trails in the forest. Three trails were selected in November 2010 and they will be surveyed for three consecutive days each month starting in December 2010. In December, 125 lemurs of one diurnal lemur species (Brown Lemur Eulemur fulvus), one crepuscular species (Western Bamboo Lemur Hapalemur occidentalis), and three nocturnal species (Greater Dwarf

Lemur *Cheirogaleus major*, unidentified Mouse Lemur *Microcebus* spp., and Sambirano Woolly Lemur *Avahi unicolor*) were recorded.

Developing Local Capacity

Since 1990, The Peregrine Fund has provided financial support, training, and education to Malagasy students for one Doctorate, 20 Master of Science equivalent degrees, and four Bachelor of Science degrees. These national students have carried out research on a wide variety of topics ranging from plant, fish, and lemur ecology and behavior to bird surveys and species specific raptor studies. We have helped and supported the formation of seven local associations working with natural resource management and creating the Tsimembo-Manambolomaty, Tambohorano, and Bealanana protected areas.

The Peregrine Fund has a professional staff of Malagasy biologists with degrees at Doctorate (1) and Master of Science (8) levels. Our staff has received important hands-on training in raptor research and benefited from our annual peer review and program planning process. They have received valuable experiential learning opportunities in NGO management, financial control, and program planning, implementation, evaluation, and proposal writing.

Asia-Pacific Raptor Conservation Program



Pacific islands, a huge area containing more than one-third of all birds of prey species. Habitats range from the world's highest moun-

tains to lowland deserts and tropical rainforests.

Raptor research in this region is spotty. Some populated areas have significant interest in raptor research, but in other areas birds of prey are unstudied, lacking even essential basics like natural history and population status. In 2007, The Peregrine Fund established the Asia-Pacific Program to encompass large and small projects that enhance understanding of raptor diversity and abundance and inform conservation efforts, especially in areas impacted by deforestation.

Results

Conservation problems in the Asia-Pacific region range from the effects of the drug diclofenac on vultures in South Asia to deforestation and human population impact in the Philippines. Conservation efforts could have significant results, especially in areas that have been little-studied yet suffer significant deforestation, such as New Guinea, Sulawesi, and Borneo.

Results of the Asian Vulture Project and the Philippine Eagle Project are described separately. (See pages 36 and 37.)

Chinese Sparrowhawks

A field study to locate wintering Chinese Sparrowhawks in Indonesian Papua was carried out in the Indonesian provinces of Papua and West Papua from December 2010 to March 2011. A combination of 39 road, boat, and foot transects were completed, for a total of 2,303 km. The 39 transects covered eight different areas in the two provinces in the most representative habitats of the region. Most habitats were forest ecosystems. Road and boat transects were supplemented by foot transects, point counts, and stops to broadcast recordings of Chinese Sparrowhawk vocalizations.

Chinese Sparrowhawks were recorded at four localities up to 1.200 km further east of the currently known wintering range limit, thus proving that the species does winter in Papua, although probably at very low density. Seventeen other raptor species were recorded out of the 28 species known to occur in Papua, a total of 225 individuals. The unrecorded species were mainly austral winter visitors from Australia or closed canopy species, thus confirming the unsuitability of using road transect methods in tropical forest habitats.

Additionally, from 6–17 March, 12 days were spent at a suitable coastal watch site at the westernmost point of West Papua, but no visible migration of Chinese Sparrowhawks was observed. Rangers from Wasur National Park and staff from WWF Indonesia accompanied our team on some transects for capacity building.

V Crested Serpent Eagle

Projects in 2012 will focus on understanding the Crested Serpent Eagle species complex, which traditionally includes 23 sub-species but may include up to seven new species, some of which are critically endangered.



N

C



Conservation efforts could have significant results, especially in areas that have been little-studied yet suffer significant deforestation.

Next to a research station at Tonle Sap Lake in Cambodia, a government building is placed above the treetops where Gray-headed Fish Eagles (nestlings, above right) build their nests. The Mekong River fills the lake, causing flooding each year. Surrounding villagers live in floating houses that rise and fall with the water level, and children (right) paddle to their floating school. Read more in Ruth Tingay's entry at blogs.peregrinefund.org



Dave And

Rick Wat

Asia-Pacific Raptor Conservation Program

Philippine Eagle Conservation

The Philippine Eagle is one of the largest eagles in the world, among the most spectacular of all birds of prey, and a global symbol for rainforest conservation. Considerable research has been done on the eagle but more is needed, especially on the bird's status in the wild and its environmental needs.

The Peregrine Fund began assisting and advising those involved with Philippine Eagle conservation in the 1970s. We support the Philippine Eagle Foundation's work with captive breeding and release, field research and monitoring, public education, and community-based initiatives to protect eagles and their habitat.



Results

The Philippine Eagle Foundation (PEF) accomplishes results by using a holistic approach that includes hands-on management (captive breeding and release), field research and monitoring, public conservation education, and community-based initiatives to conserve and restore eagle habitats.

The PEF is working to understand the ecological requirements of the Philippine Eagle, habitat restoration, and the factors that threaten the bird's existence, and to test conservation tools, such as eagle restoration and public education. In FY11 the program had five objectives:

Breed Philippine Eagles in captivity: PEF hatched a captive-bred chick in January 2011 but the chick was weak, partially blind, and underweight. The bird died barely a month later. Six more eggs were laid during this season but all were infertile.

Release captive-bred eaglets and rehabilitated eagles back to the wild: Captive-bred eagle Chick 23 was "soft released" in Mt. Kitanglad in March 2011 after almost two months of acclimatization. Chick 23 is 18 months old but is still dependent on food provisioning. A successful hunt has yet to be witnessed. Philippine Eagle "Raquel," an adult eagle turned over to the Philippine government by a town mayor, was "hard released" on Northern Sierra Madre in Luzon in May 2011. She hunted a marbled monitor lizard a week after the release. She has dispersed about 12 km from the release site, at the heart of the protected area.

Monitor breeding success of wild eagle pairs: The Adopt-a-Nest scheme allows us to monitor breeding success among wild pairs in Mindanao by providing modest cash incentives to locals who report and watch over active nests. The community closest to the nest also receives in-kind rewards whenever an eaglet successfully fledges from the nest.

Five nest reports were received during the 2010-11 breeding season. All resulted in a successful breeding attempt, further supporting previous observations that eagles are not suffering from nesting failures. The fact that the known eagle pairs have been breeding consistently and successfully so far points to the value of the local reward scheme in building community support for conservation efforts. All of the eagle nest sites were known by and accessible to communities, and the eagles remained unharmed.

Collect home range and territory size data from eagles equipped with radio telemetry

devices: "Raguel" is the first adult eagle to be fitted with a GPS-PTT satellite transmitter and the first to be instrumented on the island of Luzon. Eagle "Hagpa," a rehabilitated dependent young eagle "hard-released" in May 2010, is now fully independent and has dispersed about 25 km northeast of her release site. Two years of tracking rehabilitated eagle "Kalabugao" provided PEF with valuable insights about the value of lowland forest corridors not only as dispersal pathways but also as hunting areas for dispersing juveniles. "Kalabugao" gradually moved along a remnant riparian forest from her hack site at Mt. Kitanglad to her suspected natal site on Mt. Tago. She also returned to this riparian forest frequently to forage. Threeyear old "Cabuaya" has been missing since July 2011. The PEF team did aerial tracking in August and ground tracking is on-going but she has yet to be found. We have not received satellite readings since 5 July, 28 months after she was tagged.

Facilitate education campaigns with communities close to eagle habitats: Education campaigns with children and adults and provision of reforestation and livelihood support as conservation incentives to communities in the uplands are being sustained. We are researching community-based natural resource management with indigenous Manuvus, a Mindanao community that is conserving the territories of two eagle pairs.

2

Ч

Asia-Pacific Raptor Conservation Program



illions of vultures on the Indian subcontinent, where the birds have played a critical ecological and cultural role, suddenly began dying in the 1990s. Populations of some species declined by up to 99% in iust a decade. In 2003. The Peregrine Fund discovered the reason—a then-new drug that proved toxic to vultures, diclofenac, was being widely used to treat ailing domestic animals before they died and were left to the vultures. The birds consequently died from kidney failure after consuming the diclofenac-contaminated livestock.

The Peregrine Fund established the Asian Vulture Crisis project in 2000 to discover the cause of vulture decline and advise on vulture recovery, as well as monitor populations. We maintain the web-based Asian Vulture Population Project, which recruits vulture enthusiasts and researchers to locate and monitor remaining colonies of *Gyps* vultures throughout South Asia.

Results

The focus of our vulture work in India is in the central Indian states of Madhya Pradesh and Rajasthan, where we have been recording vulture breeding activity consistently since 2002. Our aim is to evaluate whether or not the Indian government's ban in 2006 on the manufacture and sale of veterinary diclofenac is effective. Numbers of occupied nests are measured every December and then subsequently revisited in March and April of the following year to record numbers of nests that have successfully fledged chicks.

Our study areas in both states range from India's premier protected areas within Tiger Reserves to non-protected areas comprising agricultural areas and historical monuments. Our survey sites in Madhya Pradesh are Bandhavgarh National Park and its environs. Gidh Pahari (Mountain of Vultures), the villages of Jukehi and Kymore, the 16th-century town of Orchha, and Gwalior Fort. In Rajasthan, our survey sites include Ranthambhore National Park, the Chambal Bird Sanctuary in Kota, and the villages of Kaushaldhara, Nimli, and Bodal.



Nest Monitoring

Over the last four breeding seasons, the mean number of occupied Long-billed Vulture (LBV) nests within protected and nonprotected areas in India has remained fairly stable at 216 (range 201–241) and 169 (range 154–188), respectively. For comparable sites, annual rates of decline of LBV nests in protected areas have dropped significantly from 31% before the diclofenac ban to only 4% post-ban. In nonprotected areas, the annual rate of decline in LBV nests has dropped from 35% (pre-diclofenac ban) to 14% (post-ban). Although there have been only four breeding seasons since veterinary diclofenac was banned, our results are somewhat encouraging and support recent research by our Indian partners who have shown a reduction in available diclofenac to vultures from their study of diclofenac residues in carcasses.

The stability of LBV breeding pairs is also mirrored in southeast Pakistan, where numbers of their occupied nests within protected and non-protected areas decreased by 58% and 71%, respectively, before the ban on diclofenac and declined only by 12% after the ban. Breeding success decreased by 31% prior to the ban, but increased by 28% after the ban. The number of vultures observed in all age categories declined prior to the ban, but increased after the ban. We remain cautious about interpreting these results, which emphasize the need for continued systematic long-term data collection for a slow-reproducing and long-lived species to accurately measure population trends and determine the effectiveness of the diclofenac ban.

We continued to update and maintain the web-based Asian Vulture Population Project, which has developed into an important information resource. We recruit vulture enthusiasts and researchers to locate and monitor remaining colonies of *Gyps* vultures throughout South Asia. By August 2011, 31 individuals and organizations had contributed data from 106 sites.

Education Program



As The Peregrine Fund continues to pursue both domestic and international programs to conserve birds of prey, it is clear that public education remains a priority to ensure the

success of our conservation efforts. Our Education Program provides people, young and old, with the knowledge they need to make informed decisions affecting the natural world. We believe public education sparks the passion necessary to power effective solutions for conserving birds of prey.

The Velma Morrison Interpretive Center opened in 1994 at the World Center for Birds of Prey, which The Peregrine Fund established in Boise, Idaho, in 1984. More than 30,000 people visit each year, enjoying interactive displays, multi-media shows, and live demonstrations with hawks, falcons, and eagles.

🔻 Results

N

Each year we compile reports and analyze the impact of our Education Program to gain a better understanding of our current audience and how we can reach out to those who we are missing. In 2011, we impacted 40,706 people directly by on-site and off-site programs, including 33,689 visitors to the interpretive center. We continued to reach out to community organizations, events, and schools through off-site events with live raptors. The program is also committed to supporting those who support us. In 2011, we contributed \$107,500 worth of goods and services to students and education-oriented commu-

Despite the lack of funding for field trips, on-site and off-site environmental education programs reached 5,978 students this past year. All of our on-site student education programs continue to be offered at no charge to the students or teachers. We continued our partnership with the Bureau of Land Management with a program to provide bus money for schools unable to afford transportation to the facility. While we were not able to fulfill all requests for transportation funding, this partnership did enable 1,761 students to participate in our education programs. In total, staff and volunteers conducted 173

nity events in Southwest Idaho.

Exploring the new Interpretive Trail, a family stops to learn about the unique sagebrush steppe ecosystem surrounding the World Center for Birds of Prey.



environmental education programs with live raptors on-site.

We hosted two Family Field Trip Saturday events that were free for visitors, thanks to the support of our sponsors. The event was designed to provide economical family learning opportunities during the cold weather months and encourage visitation for those students who may not be able to visit on a school program. Over the two days, 2,350 people attended. Families participated in more than 900 educational scavenger hunts and 1,100 handson craft activities. A few of the common comments were: "Thanks for doing this!" and "We ended up staying three hours. We were amazed our kids could stay so long and stay interested."

Snake River Exhibit and Interpretive Trail

For the past two years we have been working closely with the BLM Boise District office on a project to update our exhibit on the Snake River National Conservation Area and also provide an outdoor learning opportunity for our visitors. Both projects were completed in 2011. The new exhibit is interactive and features a dramatic 8x20-foot image of the Snake River Canyon. Our interpretive trail is roughly 1/4 mile in length and provides a gravel substrate for visitors to walk on all year long. A wooden gazebo boasts stunning views and great birding opportunities at the end of the trail. Interpretive panels provide an education on the unique sagebrush-steppe ecosystem found throughout Southwest Idaho and an Eagle Scout project was completed as part of this project.

October Flight Demonstrations

We first began flying birds outside in 2009 on a limited basis. Due to the tremendous feedback and demand to continue the flight demonstrations, we expanded the program to a much more formal offering in 2011. A total of 18 flight demonstrations were provided Thursdays-Sundays throughout the month. The flight crew featured a Peregrine Falcon, Swainson's Hawk, Gyrfalcon, Aplomado Falcon, and Harpy Eagle. We had more than 200 people attend our VIP preview event, which officially kicked off the flight programs. Throughout the month, more than 3,300 people attended the flight programs, and 59 individuals became members of The Peregrine Fund during the event. Compared to the previous October, the number of visitors increased by more than 1,000 and the number of new members grew by 37.

v Raptor Ambassadors

We currently have 18 education birds; 11 are used in flight demonstrations or shown on the glove or perched on the lawn for visitors. Seven of the birds are capable of traveling to local and national outreach programs. We have added a female Aplomado Falcon and a female Teita Falcon to the program. Both birds came from captive breeding programs and have proven to be great ambassadors for The Peregrine Fund.

We continually strive to present our live raptors to the public in the most visually pleasing setting possible. This past year, our Gyrfalcon and Eurasian Eagle-Owl chambers were renovated to better showcase these incredible birds. Larger windows, natural log perches, a replica arctic cliff, and dramatic murals have brought these static displays to life. Trish Nixon, our Raptor Specialist, gets the credit for much of the amazing artwork.

Volunteers

We would never have managed any of this without the Education Program's dedicated volunteer base. This year in particular, volunteers played a significant role in the success of our flight programs. A total of 74 volunteers contributed 6,834 hours throughout the year. According to the Points of Light Foundation, the current value of a volunteer hour is \$20.85. This translates to more than \$142,000 in contributions by our volunteers last year.

The Archives of Falconry



The ancient sport of falconry inspires and informs the conservation of rare and endangered birds of prey. When The Peregrine Fund began in 1970, falconers lent birds,

equipment, and expertise to the effort that helped prevent the extinction of the Peregrine Falcon. Today, falconers remain concerned about raptor conservation and habitat protection around the world.

The Archives of American Falconry opened at the World Center for Birds of Prey in 1986 to preserve the historical record. The name was shortened in 2003 to reflect the international nature of the growing collection. The facility doubled in size in 2007 with the addition of the Arab Falconry Heritage Wing. The Archives, which is open to visitors, hosts an annual falconers rendezvous in the spring.

> A renowned sportsman, Colonel Thomas Thornton is credited with restoring the sport of falconry in England in the mid-to-late 18th Century. This famous painting of him by Phillip Reinagle is on indefinite loan to The Archives of Falconry by Alexander Guest, and is on public display for the first time in 200 years. It depicts Thornton with his Gyrfalcon, Sans Quartier ("No Mercy"), and dog, Major, a famous racing Greyhound and sire.

Results

The Archives of Falconry celebrated its 25th anniversary during the fourth annual Spring Rendezvous, 5 March 2011. More than 130 falconers, friends, and relatives attended the Saturday event, which featured a special exhibition of paintings by artist and falconer Jonathan Wilde. The day also included a ceremony to honor the lives of nine falconers with stories and remembrances. A total of 66 falconers now have commemorative plaques on the Wall of Remembrance.

Curator John Swift attended the 2nd International Festival of Falconry in the United Arab Emirates and took several historical artifacts for display in the falconry heritage tent. Curator Emeritus Kent Carnie gave a pres-



entation on establishing an archive in each country at the annual general meeting of the International Association for Falconry. Archives Associate Peter Devers attended to help design our displays and interpretive banners and to host our exhibit. The exhibit was visited by many prominent officials and dignitaries, including His Excellency Mohamed A. Al Bowardi, a primary facilitator for the Sheikh Zayed exhibit at the Archives.

The Archives produced four quarterly issues of the Heritage e-newsletter and emailed it to 1,100 Archives supporters. Each issue spotlights recent acquisitions, general news, and announcements of upcoming events. We continued to enhance and promote a Facebook organization page with an enrollment of 2,100.

We produced a series of graphic panels to depict Archives' history and special collections for use as displays at falconry conventions. The curator and curator emeritus attended several international, national, and state club events and represented The Archives at each event.

Curator John Swift's book, *Bib-liotheca Accipitraria II*, was published as Volume 4 in The Archives' Heritage Publications Series. It was purchased by more than 300 subscribers worldwide and, as a reference work, represents a significant contribution to falconry literature and scholarship. N

Conservation Science



The Peregrine Fund is committed to sharing information quickly and affordably and being an authoritative source of information to researchers, students, policy-makers, and the public.

In FY11, our staff and associates produced 65 publications, including 16 technical papers, 22 reports, three abstracts, three newsletters, and three popular articles. This work was published in *Ibis, Living Bird, Journal of Raptor Research, Wilson Journal of Ornithology,* and numerous books and international scholarly journals (bibliography, page 44). Final editing was completed on a book, *Neotropical Birds of Prey: Biology and Ecology of a Forest Raptor Community,* to be released in April 2012 (see page 44).

In February 2011, The Peregrine Fund convened a threeday conference, "Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World," that drew more than 150 scientists, students, policy makers, and other conservationists from around the globe. The conference proceedings were published free of charge on The Peregrine Fund website in December, followed by the print version in February 2012 (see page 44).

Our extensive research library grew by 1,303 books and reports in FY11. We also acquired 2,991 technical journal issues from 19 university libraries. In response to requests for information, The Peregrine Fund supplied PDFs of 1,012 articles from the library free of charge to 350 researchers and students around the world.

Conservation Science

Student Education Program



ur goal is to make a lasting contribution to global biodiversity conservation and science by developing a raptor biologist in every country in the world. By the end of FY11, students receiving support from The Peregrine Fund since 1970 have earned 83 advanced degrees, including 21 Ph.D. and 62 M.Sc. degrees or equivalents. In FY11, The Peregrine Fund provided financial and logistical support to 23 students.

V Asian Vulture Project

Jamshed Chaudhry continued with his fieldwork for his Ph.D. through Quaid-e-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan, on population trends of breeding Longbilled Vultures *Gyps indicus* in Nagar Parkar, Pakistan. on African Fish Eagles at Lakes

Naivasha and Baringo from the

University of Cape Town, South

with his fieldwork on document-

ing perceptions and attitudes of

the Maasi community towards

vultures and other birds of prey

in Siana and Koiyaki Group

ranches of the Masai Mara as part

of his M.Sc. study from Clemson

Nicholas Gardener success-

fully graduated with an M.Sc. the-

sis on habitat use of Long-crested

Eagles in southern Uganda from

Exeter University in the United

University, USA.

Kingdom.

Eric Ole Reson continued

Africa.

The East Africa Project

Thecla Munanie Mutia successfully graduated with an M.Sc. degree through Egerton University, Kenya, on her study of heavy metal contamination of Lake Naivasha.

Masumi Gudka has submitted her M.Sc. thesis on a study of organochlorine contamination

40

2

Corinne Kendall completed field work on her Ph.D. through Princeton University on vulture ecology and effects of human impacts on them in Kenya.

Zablon Otieno began his fieldwork for his M.Sc. thesis from Maseno University College in Kenya on conducting a risk analysis study of Poly-chlorinated biphenyl (PCB) contamination in the Lake Victoria basin using the African Fish Eagle as a bio-indicator.

Seren Waters completed his fieldwork for his Bachelor degree dissertation from Durham University in the United Kingdom assessing human-caused impacts on the Lake Baringo ecosystem using the African Fish Eagle as a biosentinel species.

Wadagascar Project

Donatien Randrianjafiniasa graduated with his DEA (M.Sc. equivalent) study on the Madagascar Cuckoo-Hawk.

Juliot Carl Ramamonjisoa completed his fourth field season for his Ph.D. study on the owls of northern Madagascar.

The Seing Sam graduated with his DEA (M.Sc. equivalent) on the ecology of the Madagascar Pochard in northern Madagascar.

Yannick Antsa Ramiandrasoa is writing his DEA thesis in Madagascar on ecotourism as a development tool in support of creating the new Bemanevika protected area on behalf of Madagascar Serpent Eagles, Madagascar Red Owls, Henst's Goshawks, and other endangered, endemic raptors, as well as the endangered Madagascar Pochard.

Andriantahina Jean Hubert Rakoto began a DEA degree study of the ethno-botany, ecology and natural regeneration of plants in Tsimembo Forest, in support of creating the Manambolomaty protected area on behalf of Madagascar Fish Eagles.

Felana Jeanne Henriette Andrianirina began a DEA degree study on the vegetation structure and spatio-evolution of Tsimembo Forest, in support of creating the Manambolomaty protected area on behalf of Madagascar Fish Eagles.

Gilbert Razanfimanjato defended his PhD thesis on Madagascar Fish Eagles in December 2011.

Stéphanie Razakaratrimo began a DEA on nesting ecology of Bat Hawks at Tambohorano-Mandrozo Lake protected area.

Evà Andriafanomezantsoa completed an Engineers degree on development and implementation of the management plan at Manambolomaty Lakes Complex protected area in November 2011.

Harinosy Ranaivoson began a B.Sc. on traditional customs and their effects on biodiversity conservation at Tambohorano-Mandrozo Lake protected area.

Marius Rakotondratsima began a Ph.D. on forest fragment bird communities at Bealanana-Bemanevika protected area.

Neotropical Raptor Project

Edwin Campbell (Panama), Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso do Sul-Brazil, graduated with his M.Sc. study on Harpy Eagle movements and habitat use based on several years of data that he collected while employed on the Harpy Eagle restoration project.

Renzo Piana (Peru) completed field work and is writing his thesis for his Ph.D. degree at Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom, with studies on diurnal raptors and Greybacked Hawks in Northern Peru.

Maximiliano Galmes (Argentina) completed the third year of his Ph.D. program at Universidad Nacional del Comahue (UN-COMA), Argentina, studying Crowned Eagle ecology and conservation.

Francisco Denes (Brazil) began his Ph.D. program at the University of Sao Paulo-Brazil on abundance and composition of raptor communities in the Cerrado and Pantanal biomes.

Laura Riba-Hernandez (Costa Rica) completed field work and is writing her thesis for an M.Sc. degree, through the University of Sao Paulo, on the distribution and composition of owls along an altitudinal gradient in Costa Rica.

Mari Cruz Jaramillo (Ecuador) completed field work and is writing her thesis for her M.Sc. degree, through the University of Missouri Saint Louis, on the feeding ecology of the Galapagos Hawk on Santiago Island, Ecuador.

William A. Burnham Memorial Fund

When Bill Burnham was an undergraduate student, he had the opportunity to travel to Greenland to study Peregrine Falcons and Gyrfalcons. He applied for grants and received the Frank M. Chapman Memorial Fund grant from the American Museum of Natural History



in New York City, making it possible for him to begin the work he continued in Greenland until his death, and steering him on to his Ph.D. It seems only fitting that such a fund has been established in Bill's name to help others achieve their dreams.

Throughout his life, Bill tried to make opportunities available to others who were begin-

ning their work with birds of prey. Bill's friends established the William A. Burnham Memorial Fund in his honor and the Fund has been growing with additional donations until it is now large enough to begin providing grants for support of ornithological research. Priority for funding will be given to grants for work on birds of prey, on bird species in the Arctic, or on falconry-related topics. The work does not need to lead to an academic degree. Awards will be given up to \$5,000.

For more information about applying for a grant, or to make a contribution to the Fund, contact the William A. Burnham Memorial Fund at 5668 W. Flying Hawk Lane, Boise, Idaho 83709, or email *burnham@peregrinefund.org*. All contributions are tax deductible. N

Conservation Science



ince its public launch in

Raptor Information Network

The network receives enthu-

world. It is a well-established

part of the infrastructure for

global raptor conservation

and research.

siastic support from raptor

researchers around the

2004, the Global

(GRIN) has become the most authoritative and detail-rich information portal on diurnal raptors in the world. The There are now photo-GRIN website provides up-todate information on birds of graphs accompanying prey and gives researchers access to primary literature 266 of the species with extended species accounts and additional accounts and a large searchable bibliography. photo galleries for more

than 100 species.

Results

FY11 was a very successful year for the GRIN project, owing to the acquisition of the Raptor Information System (RIS) and the addition of a Library/GRIN assistant. The international stature of GRIN continued to grow, and the number of visits, page views, and hits on the website increased greatly. Efforts were focused mainly on the merger of the RIS electronic records into the GRIN bibliography and keeping pace with new literature on raptors.

Raptor Information System

The most important event in FY11 was the acquisition of the massive U.S. Geological Survey Raptor Information System (RIS), a database with about 33.000 electronic records on raptors that has been supported since the mid-1970s by a succession of federal wildlife agencies. The RIS represented the only other comprehensive bibliographic database on raptors in existence, and subsuming it into GRIN has created a single very large and unique source that is essential for all raptor researchers.

Website

About half of the GRIN species accounts, especially those for poorly-studied tropical species, are the most thorough treatments available online or, in many cases, in any medium. Individual GRIN species accounts and the GRIN bibliography are being increasingly cited in journal papers, and the latter source is the starting point for many researchers embarking on a new study. There are now photographs accompanying 266 of the species accounts and additional photo galleries for more than 100 species.

The GRIN bibliography was extended to 51,107 records by 16 September 2011, representing an addition of 8,058 records during FY11. Many existing errors and inadequate keyword strings were improved through editing in FY11, and the database is relatively free of errors by now. The RIS records proved to have very deficient or misleading keywords, and much time was spent on correcting these errors. Several weeks were spent on refining the GRIN keyword list, and dropdown lists of author and periodical names in the bibliography were added to the online search page. By mid-August, the keyword list contained nearly 15,000 terms, the periodicals list over 3,300 titles. and there were 36,600 author names, including synonyms, in the database.

GRIN received 108,000 visits and 1,036,000 hits between 1 August 2010 and 31 July 2011, representing 35% and 25% increases, respectively, from the FY10 totals. The website ranked 6th on Google for searches on the term "GRIN" by year's end; prior to FY09, it had not come up in the top 100.

Researcher Homepages

By the end of FY11, 365 participants, representing 79 countries, had created homepages in the GRIN researcher database. Links to more than 1,000 raptor organizations, raptor databases, hawkwatch sites, technical journals, and species-specific websites were expanded and maintained. Reciprocal links to GRIN and favorable reviews were created by numerous other organizations, including the American Ornithologists' Union, Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology, Encyclopedia of Life, Oxford University Library, Tree of Life Web Project, and several U.S. Geological Survey websites.

Hundreds of PDFs were added to the researcher homepages and several thousand PDFs to the GRIN bibliography. These could make it possible to make the publications of all living raptor researchers available on the GRIN website, if all of them could be persuaded to create homepages.

Z ∀

2

Ч

Raptor Conservation Genetics Research

n the past decade, we have witnessed a revolution in the ability to generate large amounts of DNA data with little effort and in the development of ways to interpret the data. In combination with field research, this work provides powerful new information and sound scientific justification for raptor conservation. It helps ensure genetic diversity of endangered, threatened, or statusunknown populations and identify instances where low genetic diversity could affect survival prospects.

🔻 Results

In collaboration with Dr. Jeff Johnson at the University of North Texas, we completed and published in the journal PLoS ONE a study investigating Peregrine Falcon (Falco peregrinus) temporal genetic stability and estimates of effective population size. Using samples collected by collaborators at Padre Island, Texas, from 1985 to 2007, we genotyped between 30-40 individuals per temporal period (seven periods) to investigate levels of genetic diversity over time and estimate the effective size of the migratory population. Results will be useful for future monitoring purposes to determine the viability of the North American migratory population.

Peregrine Falcon (*F. peregrinus*) global phylogeography project—We obtained additional genetic data to investigate the phylogeographic structure of Peregrine Falcons throughout their global distribution. Ultimately, this dataset will provide information for subspecies and population level questions and will continue to grow as we obtain and analyze samples from additional geographic locations. Completion will depend on successful cooperation with others and the resolving ability of our initial dataset.

New World Vulture (Cathartidae) phylogenetic project— We obtained samples from all representative species within this family and identified evolutionary relationships among species. Final analyses have been completed and a manuscript will be submitted.

Falcon (Falconidae) phylogenetic project—Progress has been made in procuring additional samples to investigate the phylogenetic relationships among all falcon species. Once completed, this will be the most thorough phylogenetic study on Falconidae to date, and results will help discern relationships among species that will be useful for evolutionary-based questions and management decisions. Two additional taxonomic specific manuscripts have developed from this project; one has been published (Micrastur) and another is currently in review (Polybornae).

Gyrfalcon (*F. rusticolus*) genetic color plumage polymorphism project—In collaboration with the High Arctic Institute, two studies investigating the genetics of plumage color and the timing of breeding relative to color in Gyrfalcons were completed, and two manuscripts are currently in review for publication. These results are important to understand adaptive variation in plumages and their geographic distributions.

Gyrfalcon (*F. rusticolus*) and Peregrine Falcon (*F. peregrinus*) nest site turnover project—We are generating genotypes from samples collected between 2006–11 in Thule and Kangerlussuaq, Greenland, to identify individuals at each surveyed nest site. These data will be used in conjunction with data generated from 2002–04 field seasons to investigate turnover rates and site fidelity based questions in the two study areas.

Gyps vulture captive breeding project—With local collaborators, we initiated a project to obtain genetic data that will allow us to help reduce potential inbreeding effects within the captive breeding population of *Gyps* vultures in India. Genetic data has been generated and analyses conducted. We are writing the manuscript for publication.









A recent study investigates the genetics behind color variations in Gyrfalcons (top to bottom): white, silver, grey, and dark morphs. N

0

Scientific Publications and Presentations



Neotropica

BIOLOGY AND ECOLOGY OF A FOREST RAPTOR COMMUNITY

Edited by DAVID F. WHITACRE

Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World: Conference Proceedings

Editors: Richard T. Watson, Tom J. Cade, Mark Fuller, Grainger Hunt, and Eugene Potapov

More than 150 scientists, students, policy-makers, and other conservationists attended our February 2011 conference to share their findings and determine what knowledge gaps remain on the complex topic of how Gyrfalcons and other arctic wildlife may be affected by climate change. The proceedings have been published in a two-volume, full-color, soft-cover set with a summary by Professor Ian Newton (a Peregrine Fund board member) and containing 73 research papers and related charts and graphs.

- Volume I is 372 pages and includes an overview of Gyrfalcons, ptarmigan, and the Arctic, as well as papers specific to North America.
- Volume II is 400 pages and includes papers specific to Greenland, Iceland, Scandinavia, and Russia; papers on related species; and monitoring and conservation strategies.

Ordering information: www.createspace.com/3603489

Neotropical Birds of Prey: Biology and Ecology of a Forest Raptor Community

Edited by David F. Whitacre, Foreword by J. Peter Jenny Cornell University Press

Twenty previously little-studied Neotropical species—including the Ornate Hawk-Eagle, Barred Forest-Falcon, Bat Falcon, and Mexican Wood Owl—are covered in depth, with synopses of breeding biology and behavior, diet, habitat, and spatial needs. The book also shows how the bird populations fit together as a community with overlapping habitat and prey needs. The original data that resulted from our eight-year study in Tikal National Park in Guatemala offers interesting comparisons between tropical and temperate zone species and provides a basis for establishing conservation measures based on firsthand research. Beautifully illustrated with photographs, the book is an important information source on tropical forest raptors that will appeal to birdwatchers and raptor enthusiasts around the world.

Ordering information:

www.cornellpress.cornell.edu/book/?GCOI=80140100662870

Papers and articles authored by staff and partners

Alva, J. J., M. Saavedra, X. Arosemena, M. Calle, C. Vinueza, P.J. Jiménez, R. Carvajal, and F. H. Vargas. 2011. Distributional records and potential threats to the Common (Mangrove) Black Hawk (*Buteogallus anthracinus subtilis*) in southwestern Ecuador. Boletin SAO Vol. 20.
Altamirano, T. A., J. T. Ibarra, F. Hernández, I. Rojas, J. Laker, and C. Bonacic. 2011. Nesting habits of birds of the Andean temperate forests of Chile. Environmental Protection Fund, Ministry of the Environment, Fauna Australis Series, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile.

Angulo, F., and R. Piana. 2011. Records of Semi-collared Hawk *Accipiter collaris* in northern Peru. *Cotinga* 33: 87-89.

Berry, R. 2011. Conserving the Orange-breasted Falcon: Research suggests that species rescue may be necessary to save a rare icon of the Central American rainforest. Spring/Summer issue, University of Minnesota Raptor Release.

Buechley, E. 2011. Augur Buzzard Declines at Lake Naivasha. Swara July: 54-56.

Burnham, K. K., and I. Newton. 2011. Seasonal movements of Gyrfalcons *Falco rusticolus* include extensive periods at sea. *Ibis* 153: 468–484.

Burnham, K.K., and W.A. Burnham. 2011. Ecology and Biology of Gyrfalcons in Greenland. *In* R.T. Watson, T.J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W. G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.

- Burnham, K. K., W.A. Burnham, and I. Newton. 2011. Gyrfalcon (*Falco rusticolus*) Post-glacial colonization and extreme long-term use of nest sites in Greenland. *In* R. T. Watson, T. J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W. G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.
- Cade, T. J. 2011. Biological traits of the Gyrfalcon (*Falco rusticolus*) in relation to climate change. *In* R. T. Watson, T. J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W.G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.
- Cade, T. J., 2011. The Gyrfalcon as a companion (tail chasing can be fun too). Pages 159-175 *in* V. Hardaswick and K. L. Christopher, High-Flying Gyrfalcons, the guided development program. Western Sporting. Sheridan, WY.
- Cade, T.J. 2011. Foreword. Pages xvii-xxiii *in* V. Hardaswick and K.L. Christopher, High flying Gyrfalcons, the guided development program. Western Sporting. Sheridan, WY.
- Cade, T.J. 2011. Appendix I. Commentary on old and new methods to study geographic variation in the Loggerhead Shrike: Implications for subspecies taxonomy. Pages 798–816 in E.N. Panov, The true

shrikes (*Laniidae*) of the world. Edited by T.J. Cade and C. P. Woods. Pensoft. Sophia-Moscow.

- Cade, T. M., and D. Bird, 2011. Seasonal changes in diet of Gyrfalcons nesting in Ellesmere Island and other high arctic locations. *In* R.T. Watson, T.J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W.G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.
- Cade, T. J., and Ó. K. Nielsen. 2011. Surveys for Gyrfalcons in the Scoresbysund region of northeast Greenland in 1999. *In* R. T. Watson, T. J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W. G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.
- Fessl, B., M. Dvorak, F.H. Vargas, and H.G. Young. 2011. Recent conservation efforts and identification of the critically endangered Mangrove Finch *Camarhynchus heliobates* in Galápagos. *Cotinga* 33: 27-33.
- Fuchs, J., S. Chen, J. A. Johnson, and D. P. Mindell. 2011. Pliocene diversification within the South American forest falcons (Falconidae: *Micrastur*). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 60:398-407.
- Hunt, W.G. 2011. Silent Alert—An appreciation of the Cooper's Hawk. *Living Bird* 30(2): 16-19.
- Hunt, W.G. 2011. Christy and the Cliff Swallow. *Birdwatching* 25(3):32-34.
- Hunt, W.G. On being a bird in the Arctic. *In* R.T. Watson, T.J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W.G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.
- Johnson, J.A., and K.K. Burnham. 2011. Population differentiation and adaptive selection on plumage color distributions in Gyrfalcons. *In* R.T. Watson, T.J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W.G. Hunt (Eds.). Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. The Peregine Fund.
- Lancaster, S., N. L. Richards, A. Gachangja, D. Ogada, M. Gudka, J. O. Lalah, M. Virani, P.O. Oteino, and D. Martins. 2011. Environmental monitoring in Kenya: preserving the biodiversity of East Africa. Environmental Chemistry Group Bulletin 2011(Sept): 3-9.
- Kiff, L. 2011. The Eagle Watchers: Observing and conserving raptors around the world, edited by R.E. Tingay, T.E. Katzner, K. L. Bildstein, and J. Parry-Jones. *Quarterly Review of Biology* 86:365.

- Louette, M., M. Herremans, Z. T. Nagy, L.-A. Rene de Roland, K. Jordaens, J. Van Houdt, G. Sonet, and F.C. Breman. 2011. The Frances' Sparrowhawk *Accipiter francesiae* (Aves: Accipitridae) radiation on the Comoro islands. *Bonner Zoologische Monographien* 57:133-143.
- Muela, A., M. Curti, Y. Seminario, and A. Hernandez. 2011. An incubating Orange-breasted Falcon (*Falco deiroleucus*) as a host for a vampire bat. *Journal of Raptor Research* 45(3):277-279.
- Oaks, J. L., and R. T. Watson. 2011. South Asian Vultures in Crisis: Environmental Contamination with a Pharmaceutical. Pages 413-441 in J.Elliot et al. (Eds.). Wildlife Ecotoxicology: Forensic Approaches. Springer, New York, Dordrecht, Heidelberg, London.
- Ogada, D., and R. Buij. 2011. Large declines of the Hooded Vulture *Necrosyrtes monachus* across its African range. *Ostrich* 82(2): 101-113.
- Ogada, D., F. Keesing, and M. Virani. 2011. Dropping dead: Causes and consequences of vulture population declines worldwide. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences: 1-15.
- Otieno, P.O., J.O. Lalah, M. Virani, I.O. Jondiko, and K.-W. Schramm. 2011. Carbofuran use and abuse in Kenya: Residues in soils, plants, water courses and the African white-backed vultures (*Gyps africanus*) found dead. *The Environmentalist* (2011) 31: 382-393.
- Palasios, D., S. Salazar, and H. Vargas. 2011. Galapagos Marine Vertebrates: Responses to environmental variability and potential impacts of climate change. Pages 69-80 in I. Larrea and G. Di Carlo (Eds.) Galápagos Marine Vertebrates: Responses to Environmental Variability and Potential Impacts of Climate Change. WWF, Gland, Switzerland and Conservation International, Arlington, Virginia, USA.
- Piana, R. 2011. Las rapaces diurnas del Parque Nacinal Cerros de Amotape y la Reserva Nacional de Tumbes. Boletin Informativo de la Union de Ornitologos del Peru, Vol 6(1).
- Rivera, J.L., H. Vargas, and P.G. Parker. 2011. Natal Dispersal and Sociality of Young Galapagos Hawks on Santiago Island. *The Open Ornithology Journal* 2011 (4): 12-16.

- Seipke, S., F. Voeroes Dénes, F. Pallinger, R. Thorstrom, J.-M. Thiollay, L. Fábio Silveira, and W.S. Clark. 2011. Field identification of White-collared Kite *Leptodon forbesi* and similar-looking species in north-east Brazil. *Neotropical Birding* 8: 29-39.
- Seminario,Y.,R. Phillips, and M. Curti. 2011. Observations of the post-fledging behavior and prey of the Solitary Eagle (*Harpyhaliaetus solitarius*). *Journal of Raptor Research* 45(3): 261-264.
- Vargas-González, J. de J., and F.H. Vargas. 2011. Nesting density of Harpy Eagles in Darien with population size estimates for Panama. *Journal of Raptor Research* 45(3): 199-210.
- Virani, M. Z., C. Kendall, P. Njoroge, and S. Thomsett. 2011. Major declines in the abundance of vultures and other scavenging raptors in and around the Masai Mara ecosystem, Kenya. *Biological Conservation* 144:746-752.
- Voeroes Dénes, F., L. Fábio Silveira, S. Seipke, R. Thorstrom, W.S. Clark, and J.-M. Thiollay. 2011. The White-collared Kite (*Leptodon forbesi* Swann, 1922) and a review of the taxonomy of the Grey-headed kite (*Leptodon cayanensis* Latham, 1790). *Wilson Journal of Ornithology* 123(2): 323-331.
- Watson, R. T. 2010. Lead fragments from spent ammunition in hunter-killed game animals: the source of lead exposure and its effects in California Condors. Pages 86-97 *in* O. Krone, Lead intoxication in birds of prey: causes, experiences, potential solutions. The White-tailed Sea Eagle as indicator. Leibniz-Institut für Zoo- und Wildtierforschung (IZW), Berlin, Germany.
- Watson, R.T. 2010. Primary prevention of lead exposure from ingested spent Ammunition: solutions on behalf of California Condors and human health. Pages 114-121 *in* O. Krone, Lead intoxication in birds of prey: causes, experiences, potential solutions. The White-tailed Sea Eagle as indicator. Leibniz-Institut für Zoo- und Wildtierforschung (IZW), Berlin, Germany.
- Watson, R. T., T. J. Cade, M. Fuller, and W.G. Hunt (Eds.). 2011. Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World. Volumes I and II. The Peregrine Fund.

Ь N 0 н N 4 ⊳ z z ⊳ R m τ 0 ᆔ

N

0

Ь

To our many cooperators, donors, volunteers, students, staff, members, and friends:

Aplomado Falcon Program

Tim Anderson Lee and Ramona Bass Ing. Erique Baeza Dewey & Linda Brown Bureau of Land Management A.T. & Cinda Cole Jimmy and Suanne Delk Department of Defense at White Sands Missile Range Ephraim Hinojosa Brad Kelley LightHawk Alberto Macias Gus Martin Jon and Jackie Means Mike Mellov, DVM Meridian Veterinary Clinic, Dr. Scott Higer Clay and Jody Miller Angel Montoya Miguel Mora, Texas A & M University **Richard Moore** Johnny & Margaret Mounyo Ruth Mutch New Mexico Bureau of Land Management New Mexico Department of Game and Fish New Mexico Ranch Properties New Mexico State Land Office Freddy Nieto The Port of Brownsville The Raptor Center, Dr. Pat Redig Wade Ruddock State of Texas Sul Ross University Jerry Taylor Texas Parks and Wildlife Department Turner Endangered Species Fund Turner Enterprises Inc. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Private Stewardship Program

Tom Waddell

N

-

0

N

0

2

£

0

0

ш

<u>م</u>

_

- Washington State University, Dr. Lindsay
 Oaks
- Zoological Society of San Diego, Dr. Bruce
 Rideout

California Condor Program

Arizona Game and Fish Department Arizona Public Service Arizona Strip Bureau of Land Management Boise State University Bureau of Land Management Habitat, Dr. Reed Linenberger Liberty Wildlife, Dr. Kathy Orr Meridian Veterinary Clinic, Dr. Scott Higer National Park Service Maggie Sacher, Lee's Ferry Lodge Salt River Project Southern Utah's Coalition of Resources and Economics Tufts Center for Conservation Medicine U.S. Forest Service U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service U.S. Geological Survey University of Idaho Utah Division of Wildlife Resources Washington State University, Dr. Lindsay Oaks Zoological Society of San Diego, Dr. Bruce Rideout

Neotropical Program

Mexico

Consejo Nacional de Áreas Naturales Protegidas (CONANP) Reserva Natural Calakmul

West Indies

Central Romano Corporation, Ltd. Dominican Republic Secretaría de Estado de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales Punta Cana Sociedad Ornitología de la Hispaniola (SOH)

Guatemala

Foundation for Anthropological Research & Environmental Studies Global Heritage Fund Hotel Maya Internacional Dr. Richard Hansen Tikal National Park WCS-Petén, CONAP South America

Asociación Armonía (Bolivia) CECARA and Universidad Nacional de la Pampa (Argentina) CONICET (Argentina) CONICYT (Chile) Fauna Australis and Universidad Catolica (Chile) Fundacion Condor (Ecuador) Fundación Charles Darwin (Ecuador) Fundacion Jocotoco (Ecuador) Grupo Nacional de Trabaio del Condor Andino (GNTCA) Instituto Nacional de Recursos Naturales (Peru) Manchester Metropolitan University (UK) Ministerio del Ambiente del Ecuador (MAE) Parque Nacional Galápagos (Ecuador) The Rufford Small Grant Foundation (Peru) SIMBIOE (Ecuador) S.O.S. Falconiformes (Brazil) University of Sao Paulo (Brazil) Universidad Católica (Ecuador) University of Missouri Saint Louis (USA) Universidad San Francisco de Quito (Ecuador)

Panama

Campesinos communities of Chepigana region Federal University of Mato-Grosso do Sul Jacobo Lacs Jardín Botánico Summit Ministry of Education (MEDUCA) National Environmental Authority of Panama (ANAM) Panama Canal Authority (ACP) Parque Natural Metropolitano Sociedad Mastozoologica de Panamá (SOMASPA) Tierras Colectivas Embera y Wounaan Universidad Autónoma de Chiriquí (UNACHI)

Belize

Avian Support Alliance Air Wing of the Belize Defense Force Belize Agricultural Health Authority (BAHA) Belize Foundation for Research and Environmental Education The Belize Zoo/Tropical Education Center Jodi and Vance Bente, CASA Bull Run Overseas, Ltd. Chiquibul National Park Ecoflight Forest Department Friends of Conservation and Development, Director Rafael Manzanero Hidden Vallev Inn Lighthawk Ministry of Natural Resources and the Environment Programme for Belize Trevor Roe G.A. Roe & Sons, Ltd. Royal Air Force

Asia Pacific Program

ACC Cement Company (India) Balendu Singh of Dev Vilas Dr. Hem Sagar Baral Chris Bowden Bird Conservation Nepal Bombay Natural History Society Jamshed Chaudhry, Pakistan Forest Departments of Madhya Pradesh and Rajasthan Rys Green Farrah Ishtiag Manav Khanduja, Pugdundee Safaris Nature Conservation, Pakistan Philippine Eagle Foundation Punjab and Sind Wildlife Departments, Pakistan Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, U.K. Shailendra Tewari of Tigers Den Sharad Vats of Nature Safari Limited World Wide Fund for Nature- Pakistan

Pan Africa Project

A Rocha Kenya Arabuko-Sokoke Forest Management Team **Basecamp Foundation** Dr. Marc Bechard, Boise State University Dr. Keith Bildstein, Hawk Mountain Sanctuary Ralph Buij Dr. Rob Davies Dr. Neil Deacon Department of Zoology, National Museums of Kenya Elsamere Conservation Centre Endangered Wildlife Trust Dr. Zoe Gibbs Dr. Mwangi Githiru Dr. Andrew Jenkins, Univeristy of Cape Town Kenya Wildlife Service Ms. Sarah Higgins, Lake Naivasha Riparian Association, The Little Owl Sanctuary Dr. Joseph Lalah, Kenya Polytechnic University College, Kenya Lewa Wildlife Conservancy OI Pejeta Conservancy Prof. Derek Pomerov, Makerere University Institute of Environment and Natural Resources (Uganda) Senior Warden Masai Mara National Reserve St. Lawrence University Kenya Semester Program Narok County Council Nature Kenva Nature Uganda Ms. Corinne Kendall, Princeton University Azim Rajwani, Africa-Eco Camps Ltd. Rajni Shah, Sentrim Hotels Raptor Working Group of Kenya Simon Thomsett Dr. Rob Simmons, University of Cape Town Prof. Ara Monadjem, University of Swaziland Vintage Africa Ltd. Wildlife Clubs of Kenya Zimbabwe Falconer's Club lain Allan, Tropical-Ice Safaris

Madagascar Project

Association ASITY Madagascar Association VAHATRA Brigade de la Gendarmerie Bealanama Brigade de la Gendarmerie Tambohorano Centre National de Formation Professionnelle des Personnes en Situation de Handicap (CNFPPSH) Conservation International – Madagascar Department of Animal Biology, University of Antananarivo Department of Anthropology, University of Antananarivo Department of History and Geography, University of Antananarivo **Durell Wildlife Conservation Trust** ESS Agro, University of Antananarivo FAPBM (La Fondation pour les Aires Protégées et la Biodiversité de Madagascar) Groupement de la Gendarmerie Maintirano Local communities of Bemanevika, Manamabolomaty, and Mandrozo Madagascar Institut pour le Conservation des Ecosystemes Tropicaux (MICET) Madagascar National Parks Madagasikara Voakajy Melaky Regional Department of Environment and Forest Ministère de la Pêche Ministère de la Population Ministére de L'Environnement et des Eaux et Foréts (MinEnvEF) Ministére de L'Enseignement Supérieur (MinSup) Ministère des Affaires Étrangères Ministry Department of the Biodiversity Conservation and the Protected Area System Missouri Botanical Garden (MBG) National Ramsar Committee (CONARAMS) Office National pour L'Environnement (ONE) Parc Botanique et Zoologique de Tsimbazaza Professor Sylvere Rakotofiringa, University of Antananarivo Regional Service of Fishery of Melaky Rurale Communes of Antananivo-Haut, Andranovao, Antsalova, Beandrarezona, Masoarivo, Tambohorano, Trangahy, and Veromanga Sofia Regional Department of Environment and Forest United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) University of Antananarivo University of Tulear USAID - Madagascar Wildlife and Wetlands Trust Wildlife Conservation Society World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF-Madagascar)

Other Projects

Dr. Jeff Johnson, University of North Texas Dr. Kurt Burnham, High Arctic Institute

Donors \$20,0000 or more

Acacia Partners, LP Lee and Ramona Bass Foundation Lee and Ramona Bass Mr.Harry Bettis The Bobolink Foundation The Brown Foundation, Inc., Houston Bureau of Land Management, Arizona Dr. Earl Burgess The Butler Foundation Liz Claiborne and Art Ortenberg Foundation Mr. Lewis Coleman and Ms. Anne Solbraekke Conservation International-Madagascar Laura Moore Cunningham Foundation, Inc. Edward W. Rose III Family Fund of the Dallas Foundation Roy Disney Family Foundation Disney Worldwide Conservation Fund **Dixon Water Foundation** Double Eagle Dairy **Element Power** The Charles Engelhard Foundation Environment Agency-Abu Dhabi Eyas Foundation Kate and Sam Gary, Jr. The Samuel Gary, Jr. Family Foundation Estate of Edward F. Gerrity, III Hidden Valley Inn David O. Hill The Horizon Foundation Mr. and Mrs. Edward J. Hudson Robert Wood Johnson 1962 Charitable Trust LightHawk

- Mr. Jack Long The Meadows Foundation
- Minera Panama
- Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation
- Mr. Carl Navarre Offield Family Foundation
- Prince Albert II of Monaco Foundation. Inc.
- The Leon Rajaobelina Foundation Turner Foundation, Inc. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
- U.S. Geological Survey Vanguard Charitable Endowment
- Program The G. Unger Vetlesen Foundation Russ Wasendorf
- Mr. Jim Willmarth
- Wolf Creek Charitable Foundation Ms. Lynn Wolfe
 - Julie Ann Wrigley Foundation

\$10.000-\$19.999

Drs. Frederick A. Beland and Susan S. Beland Mr. Frank M. Bond Bureau of Land Management, Idaho Dr. and Mrs. Tom J. Cade Mr. and Mrs. Yvon V. Chouinard Coypu Foundation Fiberpipe Internet Services Cina Forgason Galapagos Conservancy The Griffin Family Trust Frederic C. Hamilton Family Foundation Mr. and Mrs. Frederic C. Hamilton, Jr. The Tim and Karen Hixon Foundation Ledder Family Charitable Trust Mrs. Patricia Manigault Maple Grove Dairy The Robert and Janice McNair Foundation Harry W. Morrison Foundation, Inc. Mrs. Velma V. Morrison Ruth O'Donnell Mutch Theodore and Madeleine Noehren Charitable Remainder Trust John and Vicki Swift Swiss Friends of the Galapagos Jane Smith Turner Foundation **U.S. Bancorp Foundation** Wiancko Charitable Foundation

Unrestricted gifts from

our Chairman's Circle members are crucial to The Peregrine Fund's operation. Membership is reserved for donors at the Partner (\$1,000), Patron (\$2,500), and Premiere (\$5,000) levels. Contact our membership office at (208) 362-3716 for more information.

Many individuals have been members for multiple years (*) and many give in excess of \$2.500 per vear (+).

\$5,000-\$9,999

Mr. and Mrs. Ken Adelman Mr. John P. Baumlin Estate of Karen Brender Dr. and Mrs. William E. Cornatzer Ms. Jov Covev Dr. and Mrs. James H. Enderson Ms. Rebecca Gaples and Mr. Simon Harrison Mr. Tom Haas Dr. Greg Haves Walter Clay Hill Family Foundation Mr. Bryan Simpson Hixon Mr. and Mrs. Donald Kayser Ms. Judith King Mr. William Mallon, Jr. Merlin Systems, Inc. Mr. and Mrs. David Miller Larry H. Miller Subaru MvPublisher, Inc. National Park Service Patagonia Gloria M. Young Ornithological Fund of The Philadelphia Foundation Ms. Travers Hill Polak SeaWorld/Busch Gardens Conservation Fund Sociedad Ornitologica Hispaniola The Summerlee Foundation The Tapeats Fund Mr. Richard S. Thorsell White Sands Missile Range

Marilyn and John Bicking** Dr. Richard Bierregaard and Ms. Cathy Dolan*+ Dr. and Mrs. William E. Cornatzer** Mr. Chris Crowe* Mr. and Mrs. Frank T. Curtin* Count Charles de Ganay* Mr. Paul Dickson* Wendy and James Drasdo*+ Devon and Katherine Elstun** Ms. Dianne Eshbach* Ms. Margaret Flerchinger* Ms. Rebecca Gaples and Mr. Simon Harrison** Ms. Elizabeth Gisch Ms. Barbara Grace* Mrs. Helen K. Groves* Dr. Stephen Hill* Mr. Brvan Simpson Hixon+ Ms. Sarah S. Holcomb Mr. Jacques Jenny*+

Mr. and Mrs. Harvey C. King*

\$2,500-\$4,999

Bank of America Charitable Foundation, Inc. Marilyn and John Bicking Dr. Richard Bierregaard and Ms. Cathy Dolan Ms. Sharon Cafferty California Community Foundation Ms. Katherine Calkin Corporate Matching Gift from Capital Group Companies The Centre for Development Finance (CDF) in IFMR Coconino County Columbia Electric Supply Donna and Rodger Daniels Devon and Katherine Elstun Greater Los Angeles Zoo Association Hewlett-Packard Company Higgins & Rutledge Insurance, Inc. Dr. Grainger Hunt Idaho Power Foundation, Inc. Mr. and Mrs. J. Peter Jenny Mr. Jacques Jenny Janet Stone Jones Foundation Luther King Capital Management Mr. and Mrs. Luther King Ms. Loraine E. Klinger Mr. Forrest E. Mars, Jr. Meadowlark Farms Meridian Veterinary Clinic Ms. Allison Rohnert Ms. Cynthia S. Schotte Schwab Charitable Fund University of Scranton Prof. and Mrs. Clavton M. White The Whittenberger Foundation Dr. Stanley N. Wiemeyer

Ms. Judith King*+ Luther King Capital Management** Ms. Loraine E. Klinger** Mr. and Mrs. Brian Knox* Mr. and Mrs. John Mackiewicz* therman's Cop Mr. Stanley Marcus* Mr. and Mrs. Forrest E. Mars, Jr.** Mr. Marshall B. Miller and Ms. Claudia P. Huntington* Mrs. Paul L. Miller* Mr. Josh Muss Elizabeth B. Parks* Ms. Cvnthia S. Schotte** Mr. Richard T. Schotte* Ms. Janet Sidewater* Jennifer P. Speers* Mr. Gregory Stimple Mr. and Mrs. Steve Thompson* Mr. David Thomson* Mr. and Mrs. Bill Weiler* Mr. and Mrs. Blair Woodall*

0

ᆔ

Peregrine Fut

N

0

н

н

N

The Peregrine Fund received donations in memory of the following individuals in 2011:

John Axton Elaine Axton-Taylor Ward Beauchamp Fletcher B. Breedlove Karen D. Brender David J. Brimm Carol P. Burke **Bill Burnham** John A. Campbell Elbert Cleaveland Ed Cummins Chad Cyrus Philip J. DiMaggio Don Disotell Ruth A. Donahoe Phil Eldredge Scott Francis Mildred C. Frazier Gordon L. Grenfell Carrie Griffith Don Grisco Virginia Hageman Genevieve Halm Morris Hendrickson Glenn Hicks Walter C. Hill Burton Holmes **Dvlan Hopkins** Robert M. Klimes

Stephen Kyker Geren Long William L. Mathews Edwin Mattingly **Richard Mayne** Joe McKinney Ray Miller Todd N. Montgomery Morlan W. Nelson Jerald Lindsay Oaks Carol Pettersen Indi Price Paul Reitan Garv A. Rickard James E. Sailer Sean Sainsbury **Diane Schmitt** Doug Scott Jerry Scott Alfred P. Seales Gilbert Stieg Jeraldine Struthers Henry Swain Roger Thacker Denis R. Trowbridge Gabriel Van Oss Maronge Mary Van Valkenburg Barrie D. Watson Jim Willmarth

To donate in memory of a loved one, or to commemorate a wedding, birthday, or other special event, please contact our membership office at (208) 362-3716. You may also use our donation form at *www.peregrinefund.org*

Donors (continued) \$1,000-\$2,499

Bosch Security Systems, Inc. Mr. William A. Brock and Ms. Elizabeth D. Owens LTC Sidney Kent Carnie Cedar Elm Fund of The Dallas Foundation **CME** Group Foundation Colorado Hawking Club Mr. Chris Crowe Mr. and Mrs. Frank T. Curtin Dana Innovations Count Charles de Ganav Mr. Paul Dickson Wendy and James Drasdo Ms. Dianne Eshbach The Fanwood Foundation Ms. Margaret Flerchinger Fort Wayne Zoological Society Gem State Communications Ms. Elizabeth Gisch The Golden Pearl Foundation Goldman Sachs Matching Gift Program Mr. Kevin Good Goshawk Fund, a Donor Advised Fund at the Nature Conservancy Ms. Barbara Grace Grand Canyon Conservation Fund Greater Boise Rotary Foundation Mr. Dennis R. Grisco The Hackborn Foundation, Inc. Dr. Stephen Hill Ms. Sarah S. Holcomb Holohil Systems Limited Mr. Blake Hopkins Ms. Juliet Hudson Idaho National Laboratory through corporate funds from Battell **Energy Alliance** Idaho Northern and Pacific Railroad Co. Illinois Falconer's Organization Indiana Falconers Association Mr. Cliff Kellogg Mr. and Mrs. Harvey C. King Mr. and Mrs. Brian Knox Dr. Mike Kochert Mr. Garv Landers Mr. Peter N. Larson Ms. Marty Leonard John S. Mackiewicz, Ph. D. Mr. Stanley Marcus Christy Hamilton McGraw and Ted McGraw Ms. Linda Meza Microwave Telemetry, Inc. Mr. Marshall B. Miller and Ms. Claudia P. Huntington Mrs. Paul L. Miller

Ms. Patricia Murray Mr. Josh Muss Albuquerque BioPark North American Falconers Association Elizabeth B. Parks Mr. and Mrs. Steve Platt Mr. and Mrs. Mark L. Purdy Quint Financial Group, LLC Mr. Mark Restum Mrs. Karen Heiberg Reuter The Schiff Foundation Mr. Richard T. Schotte Mr. John M. Seabury Ms. Janet Sidewater Bailev Smith Fund Mr. Joseph A. Sorcic Ms. Jennifer P. Speers Stichting De Harpij Mr. Gregory Strimple Sulzberger Foundation Marian S. Heiskell Giving Fund SUNY College at Cortland Texas Hawking Association Mr. and Mrs. Steve Thompson David Thomson Mr. Russell Thorstrom Ms. Christie Van Cleve Ms. Linda Waddell Wal-Mart Foundation Warner Construction Dr. and Mrs. Richard T. Watson James and Christine Weaver Mr. and Mrs. Bill Weiler Dr. and Mrs. Charles E. Wheatley III Mr. Jon Wilde Blair and Laura Woodall Mr. Vizcaya Zugaitz \$500-\$999 AAA Oregon/Idaho

Ms. Kristen L. Anderson Bennu Allen Anpial Mr. Neil Aslin Ms. Donna Bailey Ms. Linda Bakey Mr. David N. Ball Ms. Shelly Barbanica Mr. and Mrs. Stephen Beebe Mr. and Mrs. H. William Belknap Boardroom Mr. and Mrs. Duncan Boeckman Mr. and Mrs. Dana Brabson, Jr. Mr. Jeremy Bradshaw Mr. Frederick Brodsky Ms. Linda Burch Mrs. Patricia Burnham Mrs. and Mrs. Janet Buschert Mr. and Mrs. Allen Chaikin Ms. Alison Cook

Mr. Roger Crawford Donald and Michelle Cronin Mr. Eric Cupp Curtis Clean Sweep Mr. Nelson Davison Friends of Phil DiMaggio Mr. and Mrs. Tucker Dorn Harold and Jacque Eastman Mr. and Mrs. Peter T. Edmunds Mr. Jim Edwards Mrs. Betsy Eldredge Mr. Frank Ely Mr. Carlos A. Garza Mr. Ray Gilbertson and Ms. Kris Spaniian Mr. James F. Gilpin Dr. Cathleen A. Godzik Edyne and Allen Gordon Foundation Ms. Cvnthia Grav Mr. and Mrs. Peter W. Gray Mr. Evan J. Hanseth Mr. and Mrs. Dick Harley Mr. and Mrs. John F. Harrigan Mr. Patrick Harrington Dr. Anita Hendrickson Hewlett-Packard Company Foundation Mrs. Henrietta P. C. Hildebrand Mr. and Mrs. George Hirsch Ms. Rachel Hollis Daniel and Cynthia Hughes Mr. John Hunter Idaho Records Management Mrs. Imogene Powers Johnson Ms. Maggie Jones Mr. Paul Juergens Mr. Hank Kaestner KB0I-TV Dr. Leonard Keifer Ms. Lisa Kern Ms. Fran Kiesling and Ms. Sharon Lubinski Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Kirkman Mr. and Mrs. David J. Knutson Mr. Jeffrey Kolb Mr. and Mrs. Robert Wade Koons Mr. Prempeh Kubi Mr. Johannes Kuth Mr. and Mrs. Mike D. Lahey Mr. Ray Lappan and Ms. Cathy Kriloff Mr. Hugh M. Lawrence Mrs. Stephanie Leach Mr. Richard C. Leatherman Mr. Ed Levine Mr. Bryan Roy Lutinski Mr. and Mrs. Ron Malek Mr. Stuart C. Martin Mr. David E. Mason

Mr. Pierre Couillaud

Dr. and Mrs. William Mattox Mr. Robert McCollom Mr. and Mrs. Douglas P. McConnell Melling Family Foundation Mr. and Mrs. George Melling Dr. Heinz Meng The Valerie Brackett and Nikolaos Monoyios Charitable Fund Ms. Kellie J. Morrison Mr. and Mrs. Don Moser Ms. Patricia Mulrov MWI Veterinary Supply The New York Community Trust Wood Thrush Fund Ms. Natalie Nicholson Mr. Jim Norton O Live Fund Ms. Kim O'Kellev Mr. Kevin P. O'Rourke Mr. John E. Parks Sheila and Ron Pera Peregrine Group Ms. Paula A. Perliss Mr. Chris S. Pinover Dr. Marshall F. Priest Mr. and Mrs. Randy Rasmussen Dr. Eileen Reilich Dr. Beverly Ridgely Ms. Judith Roderick Mr. and Mrs. Gordon W. Rosenberg Rotary Club of Boise Southwest The Jim and Patty Rouse Charitable Foundation, Inc. Mr. and Mrs. Johnny Russell Sandpiper Fund Mr. George Scheibe Mr. George Scott Dr. Lucia Liu Severinghaus Shafer Library, University of Findlay Silicon Valley Community Foundation Ms. Olive Spitzmiller Mrs. Helen S. Stern Ms. Virginia K. Stowe Ms. Catherine G. Symchych Taylor Brothers Fire & Safety, Inc. Joseph H. Thompson Fund Mr. John Tiernev Mrs. Sally Tongren Mr. Skip Tubbs Alasdair and Susan Turner TVR Heating and Cooling Mr. Dick Uihlein Mr. Larry Vaughn and Ms. Margot LeRoy Dr. Jonathan S. Vordermark Washington Falconers Association Mrs. Judith Weidner Mr. Gregory D. Weyland Mr. and Mrs. Robert B. Winslow Mr. David L. Woodard

2

 $\overline{}$

0

\$200-\$499

Prof. Jonathan Adler Mr. and Mrs. Philip D. Aines Mr. Blair Anderson Mr. Donald L. Anderson Ms. Karen Anderson Mr. Mike Anderson Arizona Falconers Association Mr. Allen Asbury and Ms. Teresa Mavlor Ms. Beatrice Ashburn Mr. Rick Ashworth Association of Avian Veterinarians Mr. Donald Ayres Mr. Jerry Bagnani Ms. Margaret Bailey Mr. and Mrs. Robert Baitinger Dr. Clarence Ballenger Mike and Jocelyn Barker Mr. Benjamin Barnhardt Mr. and Mrs. Craig Barrett Craig and Barbara Barrett Foundation Mr. Adam Bates Mr. John R. Baumert Ms. Lorraine Bazan and Mr. Chris M. Stover BCD Travel Mr. and Mrs. Spencer B. Beebe Linda, Tim, BreAnna, and Tyler Behrman Dr. and Mrs. Herbert John Beil Mr. and Ms. Roger Bell Mr. Daniel Bergmann Mr. James A. Bevis Mr. John R. Bickel BioResource Consultants Mr. Cody Birdwell Mr. and Mrs. Robert T. Blakely, III Mr. Andrew C. Blatz Mr. and Mrs. Gary Boberg Ms. Susan Boettger Mr. and Mrs. Harold C. Bond Mr. Michael Borror Mr. David J. Bottjer Patricia Bredouw Mr. and Mrs. William Brown Mr. Daniel Bruening Dr. Theresa L. Bucher Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Bunn Mr. Robert Burinskas Burks Tractor Company Dr. Kurt K. Burnham Mr. and Mrs. Connor B. Burton Mr. Clifton Cain

Mr. Ryan Campbell Mr. Thomas Cantella Ms. Katherine Carter Mr. Mark Castrodale Cathedral School for Boys Mr. Gregory M. Clark Mr. Ron G. Clarke Dr. Arthur A. Clevenger Mrs. Cathy Clifford Ms. Nancy Cohen Ms. Esther Coke Mr. Robert J. Collins CommonCents Mr. William Conway Dr. Jerald L. Cooper Corporate Technologies Wally and Lisa Cox Ms. Ellen Crosby Mr. Alan Czarnowsky Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Daily Ms. Sue Daum Mrs. Marie A. de Angelis Mrs. Michelle Devine Mr. and Mrs. William L. Dickerson Mr. Victor J. DiMaggio Dr. James M. Donovan Mr. R. David Duncan Mr. and Mrs. Danny Durrance Mr. and Mrs. William M. Edison Mr. James Entgelmeier Mr. Michael Faison Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Fawcett Miss Ashley Ferry and Billy Skinner Mrs. Peggy Folev Mr. Dallas D. Ford Mr. Timothy J. Ford Ms. Lori Ann Foringer Mr. and Mrs. Oz Forrester Mr. and Mrs. John Francis Mr. David Frankson Friends of Blackwater National Wildlife Refuge, Inc. Ms. Susan Fritts Mr. Richard Fyfe Ms. Sylvia Gallegos Garry's Automotive Mrs. Ann Gattorn Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. Gillespie Ms. Tina Good Mr. Tom Gossard Grand Circle Field Institute Mr. Duncan Grandin Dr. Robert Graves Greenfield Custom Meats Ms. Jozeffa Ann Greer

Mr. Donald Gregory, Jr. Mr. Matthew Grenfell Mr. John W. Griek Mr. Ryan Grisco Mr. and Mrs. Curtiss Gunn Ms. Mary Hackley Professor Frederick A. Hagar Hageman Family Foundation Mr. Steven Hahn and Mrs. Imelda J. Weddington Mr. and Ms. Thomas Haifley Mrs. Jane Hallowell Dr. E. A. Hankins, III Ms. Kathy Haranzo Ms. JoAnn W. Harley and Mr. Alan D. Harley Mr. and Mrs. Elliotte M. Harold, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. Glen Helzer Mr. James Henry Mr. and Mrs. Frank G. Hill Mr. Walter Clav Hill Mr. and Mrs. Herb Holt Mr. Richard A. Horr Master Colin Houlis **Rich Howard** Leo and Katherine Hoyt HPM Building Supply Foundation Mr. John Humphreys Hungarian Institute of Ornithology Dr. and Mrs. Phil Hunke Mr. Fred Hunt and Ms. Mary MacVey Idaho Banking Company Mr. and Mrs. Jim Ince Ms. Barbara Indra Jayker Treasure Valley Wholesale Nursery, Inc. Mr. and Mrs. Brvan Jennings Mr. David L. Johnson and Ms. Anne Nobles Johnstone Supply Ms. Valerie M. Jones Dr. and Mrs. Craig L. Jordan Mrs. Judith M. Joy Mr. and Mrs. David Junkin, II Ms. Anita Kaczmar-Yee Mr. Thomas Kelley Mr. Danny Kenny Mr. and Mrs. Junior Kerns Mr. and Mrs. Philip Kinney Ms. Karen S. Kleehammer Ms. Annie Kolb-Nelson Mr. Greg Korelich Dr. Pertti Koskimies Ms. Helen Kupeli

Ms. Barbara Lancaster and Mr. Ron Vance Mr. Daniel Lass Mr. Joseph Lawson Ms. Paulette F. Leeper Mr. and Mrs. Andy F. Lermer, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. W. L. Leverette Mr. Rick Liberto Mr. Alan Lieberman and Ms. Cyndi Kuehler Mr. Philip D. Limbacher Mr. Brian K. Linville Ms. Bobbi Gail Lipton Mr. and Mrs. Maclovio R. Lopez Ms. Janet E. Lotz Mr. Garrick Lowry Mr. and Mrs. Richard Lueckel Mr. Tony Luscombe Ms. Lynn MacDonald Mr. Ken Manning Ms. Dolly Manyon Mr. Peter F. Maronge Mr. and Mrs. Russell Martenson Mr. Andrew L. Martin Mr. and Mrs. Paul Mascuch Mr. and Mrs. Don Masterson Arthur and Mary McAnulty Ms. Elizabeth McClendon Ms. Deanna McCranie Mr. Timothy P. McDaniel Mr. Stefan McDonough Ms. Ellen McKinnev Mr. Gordon L. McLennan Ms. Mimi McMillen Ms. Becky Medina Mr. Bruce Medlin Ms. Katie Meiners Mr. James R. Meyer Michigan Hawking Club Dr. David Mindell Ms. Lisa M. Minshew Mr. and Mrs. George P. Mitchell Ms. Elsie Mogck Mr. Cory D. Morgenstern Mr. Scott W. Morrow Nebraska Falconers Association Ms. Lori Nelson Mr. Scott Nichols Mrs. Russell L. Nicholson Mr. Christopher A. Nolte North Carolina Museum of Natural Sciences Mr. Scott Olle Mr. and Mrs. Jim O'Neil OREPAC

Mr. and Mrs. Charles Osterbrink Ms. Karen Ostertag Mr. Michael Pacht and Ms. Barbara Barry Geoff Pampush and Cyd Cimmiyotti Mr. Eric D. Paschal Mr. Karl Pearsons Peasley Transfer & Storage Mr. Gordon L. Pedrow Ms. Gail Penkrot Mr. Wavne Peterson Mr. James Phillips Ms. Cynthia Philpot Mr. Marc Pitteman Ms. Louise Plank Ms. Janice Poltorak Ms. Fran Pope Mr. Stephen L. Poppino Ms. Debby Du Bois Porter Ms. Kathleen Pratt Mr. Dale Pressnall, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. Ronald W. Prestfeldt Ms. Ann Prezyna Noel Quinn Ms. Mabel A. Quinto and Mr. William Hildehrandt Mr. and Mrs. Michael Ratterree Mr. Peter Rav Dr. and Mrs. J. David Remple Mr. Fred Reynolds Ms. Amy Richard and Mr. Ed Pearson Dr. Chandler Robbins Ms. Susan Roberts Mr. and Mrs. James D. Robison Mr. and Mrs. William E. Rose Mr. Joseph H. Ruf Mr. Oscar Ruiz Mr. Henry Rylko Mr. Randall Sartin Mr. John Savage Mr. Aaron J. Saxon John Scharff Migratory Bird Festival Ms. Mary Schlosser and Dr. Stewart J. Hazel Dr. and Mrs. Phil Schmid Mr. Thomas K. Schmidt Mrs. Gretchen Schnabel Mr. and Mrs. Roger Allan Schultz Mr. Stephen Schwartz Mr. Timothy Sell Seven Oaks PTA Mr. George Sherman Ms. Rita C. Shultz Ms. Marion Simpson

Mr. David Sinton and Ms. Missy Siders Mr. Albert Smith Ms. Sue Sontag Mr. Peter Spiegelman Mr. Jay Spielman Stateside Associates, Inc. Ms. Patricia C. Stein Mr. Bret Steiner Ms. Charlotte Stephens Ms. Kerry Street Mr. and Mrs. Paul Street Mr. Thomas Stricker Mr. David C. Stuesse Ms. Christina T. Supran Mr. and Mrs. Daniel E. Svikhart Ms. Betty Tableman Mr. and Mrs. Michael Tannen Ms. Nancy Tatum Dr. Thomas J. Templeton Mr. and Mrs. Carl G. Thelander Ms. Lucinda Thiel Mrs. Dwight C. Thompson Mr. Richard K. Thorpe Mr. Jerry Thorstrom Mr. William R. Tilton Mr. and Mrs. Gene Toikka Ms. Rosemary Turunc Mr. Luke Tuttle Mr. Jeffrev D. Uhlenburg Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Ulrey Mr. Roger Upton Mr. and Mrs. Robert W. Van Aken Mr. and Mrs. John W. Wade Mr. Byron L. Walker Washington State Dept. of Natural Resources Robert and Christine Werst Mr. David Westhausen Mr. and Mrs. Paul Widener Mr. Harold Williams Mr. Robert D. Williams Ms. Annie Wise Mr. Richard Wolcott Ms. Carol A. Wolf Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Wood Ms. Allyson Woodard Mr. and Mrs. William L. Woolley Ms. Sandy Woyce Mr. and Mrs. Michael A. Yates Mr. Robert Yetter Mr. Kurt Young and Ms. Marcia VanderBroek Mr. and Mrs. Hubert P. Zernickow Mr. and Mrs. Robert B. Zoellick

N

0

н

н

N

0

N

◄

⊳

z

z

⊳

R

ш

POR

If you do not find your name, or find it in an inappropriate location or incorrectly spelled, please let us know. Accuracy is very important to us and although we try hard, sometimes mistakes occur.



\$100-\$199

Dr. Sandra Aamodt Mr. Timothy P. Ainge Mr. Bryce Airhart Dr. and Mrs. Kevin Albaugh Ms. Jane Albright Dr. Charles E. Alexander Mr. David C. Allais Mr. David Allan Mr. and Mrs. Steve Aller Meridith and Robert Allis Ms. Susan M. Allison Mrs. Carole Alverson Mr. Bradley Alvis Mr. and Mrs. Jerry Andersen Mr. Richard Anderson Mr. Todd Anderson Anser Charter School Ms. Meredith Arksev Ms. Leigh Armstrong Mr. Raphael Arnaud Mr. Michael D. Arnold Mr. Wayne Arny Ms. Stefanie Arthur Mr. and Mrs. Max Ault Ms. Kathlyn Austin Ms. Peggy Bach Ms. Sharon Bailey Ms. Alice Baird Bank of America Charitable Foundation Ms. Sylvia Barbarich Mr. Jack Barclay Mr. Sam Bard Mr. and Mrs. Albert P. Barker Mr. Marshall G. Barnes Ms. Kathy Bartholemy Mr. and Mrs. Brian E. Battles Mr. Max W. Batzer Mr. William Beardsley Mr. and Mrs. Bob Beckwith Mr. and Mrs. Steve Belardo Ms. Melissa Beldon Ms. Jan Bell Ms. Judy Bernhard and Mr. Byron Spooner Ms. Kellyn Betts Bliss and Annette Bignall Mr. Brian Bird Ms. Victoria Bishton Mr. Steven G. Black and Ms. Wendie A. Wulff Mr. Peter H. Bloom and Ms. Rebecca Morales Ms. Boester and Mr. Wood Mr. and Mrs. Larry Bomke Mr. Albert W. Boss Ms. Gloria Bowman

Dr. Marjorie A. Boyd Ms. Fiona Branagh Mr. Bill Brannan Mr. and Ms. Jeff Broberg Mr. Steve Broomhall Mr. and Mrs. Bart B. Brown Mr. Duncan B. Brown Mr. Ronald E. Brown Miss Diane Bryan Dr. Don Bryant Mr. and Mrs. William H. Bryant Ms. Jill Bryson Mr. David F. Buck Mr. Neil J. Buckley Mrs. Lvdia Burns Ms. Eleanor Buthmann Ms. Marie J. Calkins Mr. Craig Campbell Mr. Mike Carpenter Mr. and Mrs. Lee A. Casebere Mr. Thomas Cassidv Mr. Thomas Castellane Mr. John Castillo Mr. Patrick Center Mr. Robert Chamberlain Ms. Carol Channel Ms. Dawn A. Cheek Ms. Virginia Chin Mr. Steven R. Chindgren Mr. Jonathon W. Chow Mr. Ed Chubb Mr. Matthew G. Clark Mr. Peter Wm. Clark Mr. and Mrs. Donald K. Clarke Ms. Nova Clarke Ms. Christina E. Clayton and Mr. Stanley Kolber Mr. Robert J. Cmarik Mr. Collins Cochran Mr. and Mrs. David Cochran Mr. Edward M. Coffman Mr. Bruce Coggeshall A.T. and Cinda Cole Dr. Charles T. Collins Dr. Scott A.B. Collins Mr. Jonathan C. Colman Mr. and Mrs. Rob C. Colwell Mr. George Combs Ms. Christy Commons Ms. Shannon E. Conaty Mr. Gordon Cone Mr. and Mrs. John Confer Mr. Thomas Connors Mr. and Mrs. John Cook Dr. E. Newbold Cooper Mr. and Mrs. Howard Cooper Ms. Lisa Leff Cooper Bruce and Rebecca Copeland

Ms. Georgiann Cornelius Mr. Tim Crawford John and Diane Crim Mr. Lawrence Crowley Ms. Brenda J. Curtin Mr. and Mrs. William Dagger Mr. and Mrs. Fred A. Dahl Mr. and Mrs. Paul D'Andrea Ms. Elaine N. Daniel and Mr. James A. Bailev Mr. Barry Dansie Mr. and Mrs. David Dash Ms. Lindsay Dault Ms. April Davenport-Rice Ms. Kate Davis Mr. and Mrs. William Davis Mr. Steve Debow Mr. Michael DeFrank Mr. Tom DeKornfeld Mr. Adrian M. Delmont Mr. John W. Denton Mr. Scott Derrickson Deutsche Optik Mr. Peter Devers Nick and Libby Devlin Mr. Rolf Diamant and Ms. Nora Mitchell Mr. and Mrs. Les Doak Ms. Leslee Doner Mr. and Mrs. Bill Donovan Mr. and Mrs. Douglas Dotson Jim and Susan Dreisbach Mr. and Mrs. C. Bert Dudley Mr. David Eagleton Mr. and Mrs. David Eagleton Mr. and Mrs. Boyd L. Earl Mrs. Susanna C. Easton Mr. Jamey Eddy Ms. Liz Edrich Mr. and Mrs. Richard Edwards Mr. Bruce Ehresman Mr. Paul Ellner Mr. and Mrs. Keith Emmen Mr. and Mrs. Leland Endres Richard and Rebecca Evans Foundation Ms. Frances F. Evans Ms. Mary Ewing ExxonMobil Foundation-Matching Gift Programs Vice Admiral Ronald M. Eytchison Mr. David Farner and Ms. Katherine Jeschke Mr. Andrew Feld Mr. Jim Fenn Mr. and Mrs. Dan Fenske Mr. Clark Fidler

Ms. Jennifer Fitzgibbon Mr. Thomas Flaherty Drs. Greg and Tracy Florant Ms. Kathleen Vignos Folsom Mr. and Mrs. Steve J. Fonken Lander and Mickey Fontaine Mr. Ben Ford and Ms. Keri Cole Mr. and Mrs. Russell W. Ford Mr. Kirk H. Francis Frank Family Trust Mr. Gary Fry and Ms. Lynn Dinelli Mr. and Mrs. Frank Fuerst Mr. Phillip Galgiani Mr. and Mrs. Tony Galvan Mr. Tim Garner Mr. and Mrs. Don Garvin Mr. and Mrs. Roger Gathman Mr. William J. Gehring, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Geiger Mr. Jay Richard George Mr. Tom Germroth and Ms. Michelle Guyett Mr. and Mrs. Richard Gidner Bill and Judy Giese Mr. Thomas Gilmore Dr. Jay Glass Ed Glassner Mr. John Glos Mr. and Mrs. Eric Goodman Ms. Lauren E. Gordon Ms. Merrie D. Gordon Mr. Stuart Gordon Mr. Drew A. Graham and Ms. Bridget Leo Mr. Jim Graham Grand Canvon Association Mr. Larry G. Gray Ms. Dana Greeley Ms. Marion Greenhalgh Mr. P. Porcher Gregg, Jr. Ms. IIa G. Grenfell Mr. Norman E. Gribbins Mr. Robert L. Grissinger Ms. Linda K. Grob Ms. Henrietta Gunn Dr. and Mrs. William Guth Haimish Holding, Inc. Mr. and Mrs. Terry Hales Mr. Thomas Haley George and Tanva Hall Mr. William Halliwell Mr. and Mrs. Henry Hallowell, Jr. Ms. Susan E. Hamilton and Mr. Tim S. Bates Ms. Sarah Hanna-Jones

Ms. Patti S. Hard Mr. and Mrs. Victor Hardaswick Mr. and Mrs. Logan Hardison Mr. and Mrs. Wallace Hardy, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. Donald Harenberg Ms. Janet Harris Mr. and Mrs. Peter Harrity Mr. Tim P. Hart Hatch Design Associates Mr. Dennis L. Hauer Mr. and Mrs. Larry Hays Dr. Alison M. Hazel and Mr. Michael J. Gefell Mr. and Mrs. Ross Heald Ms. L. W. Hebenstreit Mr. Todd R. Heidenreich Mr. and Mrs. Peter Helming Mr. Robert Henderson Ms. Gloria Hengen Mr. Kurt Henke Ms. Madeleine Hervey Ms. Corinne Hewett David and Mary Jane Hill Mr. James Hilton Mr. Jan Hintermeister Mr. Kenneth Hittel Mr. and Mrs. Stan Hobson Helen and Donald Hodges Mr. David Hoelzinger Mr. John Homer Hoffman, Jr. Mr. and Mrs. William K. Hoffman Mr. Paul Hofsommer Mr. and Mrs. Russell Holdredge Col. and Mrs. James W. Holler Mr. and Mrs. Carv Hollingsworth Mr. Robert B. Hollister Mr. Gregory Holman Mr. and Mrs. Scott Holt Dr. Katherine Homrok Mr. Craig Howard Mr. Val T. Howard Dr. Robert E. Hoyt and Ms. Jyl Hoyt Ms. Suzanne Hudec Mrs. Shirley F. Hunt Dr. and Mrs. Thomas R. Huntington Mr. and Mrs. Elmer Hurd **IBM** International Foundation Idaho Falconers Association ING Mr. and Mrs. Gregory A. Inskip Ms. Kathleen Jackson Mr. Richard Jacobs

2

Ч

0

N

Ч

Ч

0

N

Mr. Markus Jais James and Alexa Jardine Alan and Sally Jenkins Mr. Benjamin Jennings Mr. and Mrs. Terry Jennings Mrs. Jocelyn Jerry Mr. Roland Jeske Mr. Eric Johnson Ms. Jan Johnson Ms. Jennifer Jordan Ms. Mary Jordan Mr. Hugh J. Judd Mr. Theodore C. Julio Mr. Steve Justus and Ms. Valerie Grimes Mr. James Kadel Mr. Ryan Kane Mr. Igor Karyakin Dr. and Mrs. John Keiser Mr. Aaron Keith Mr. Brian Kellogg Dr. William Keppler Mr. and Mrs. Tom Kessler Lloyd and Julie Kiff Mrs. Celeste Killeen Ms. Janina Kilpatrick Mr. Ben King Mr. John G. Kirchner Linda Kirksey Mr. and Mrs. Melvin Lee Kirksey Mr. Charles L. Klawitter Ms. Cheryl Kleinbart Mr. Matthew Klewin Ms. Karen Kluge and Mr. Terry Rosenmeier Ms. Belinda A. Knochel Ms. Kris Knoernschild and Mr. Mark Murzin Mr. and Mrs. Heinz F. Koch Mr. David Kruger Mr. and Mrs. Donald E. Kudera Takashi and Reiko Kurosawa Mr. and Mrs. David M. Lahiner Mr. and Mrs. Bertrand Latil Mr. Art Latterell and Ms. Nancy J. Latterell Richard and Patricia Laurence Mr. and Mrs. Richard W. Lawin Mrs. Betty S. Lawler Mr. Jeff Lawrence and Ms. Carol Overcash Mr. Sandy Lawrence Ms. Connie Leavitt

Ms. Barbara Leibowitz Ms. Andrea Leighton Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth M. Levine Mr. Ted Levine Ms. Joanne K. Lewis Ms. Diana Little Sharon Loeb Mr. Jaime Lopez Mr. John W. Love Mr. Thomas Lovejoy Ms. Toni Lubrecht Ms. Claire Lupton Mr. Regan Mack Dr. William MacLeod Mr. Steven C. Madsen Mr. and Mrs. Tom Maechtle Mr. and Mrs. Bruce J. Magelky Ms. Denise Mahoney Ms. Michele V. Maisano Mr. David Mann Prof. Ken Manning Randy and Marti Markward Ms. Marker B. Marshall Mr. Paul Martin Ms. Suzanne Mason Mr. Mike Matejcek Ms. Kimberly Mauch Ms. Kathleen Maupin McClane Family Mr. Warren McClelland Mrs. Nobuko McClure Ms. Diane McConnaughey Ms. Jean Russell McCoy Mr. and Mrs. Harry C. McElroy Sarah and Joe McGarry Mr. and Mrs. Craig McKenzie Mr. Lindsey McLennan Mr. David McMahon Mr. William T. McMath Dr. F. Arthur McMorris Mr. Steve McNall Mr. John Melcher Mr. and Mrs. Mike Melvill Mrs. Susan L. Menthe Mr. Andrew Mergen Ms. Luanne Merner Dr. and Mrs. David K. Merrick Mr. Davis Merritt and Ms. Pat McGaran Ms. Shannon Mevers Ms. Kim Middleton Mr. Rufus L. Miley Mr. James M. Miller Mr. Louis Miller

Mr. and Mrs. Michael K. Miller Mr. Bruce J. Mincher Dr. Jack Mitch Mr. and Mrs. Frank Montgomery Dr. and Mrs. Robert Montgomery Mr. Gerald Moon Mr. and Mrs. Howard Morris Ms. Sharon A. Moss Ms. Abbe L. Mulholland Ms. Aki Munnell Mr. Tom Munson Kimberly and Raivo Murnieks Ms. Jill L. Murphy Ms. Patricia A. Murphy Mr. William Murrin Mr. and Mrs. Peter Mygatt Ms. Caroline Natwick Mr. Hernan Navarro, Jr. Ms. Pam Negri Ms. Betty Neibauer Mr. John Neill Mr. James W. Nelson Mr. and Mrs. Kevin Nelson Dr. R. Wayne Nelson Dr. Arthur Neuburger Ms. K. K. Newkirk and Mr. William H. Hazle Mr. and Mrs. Liston Noble Mr. Scott Nurmi Mr. and Mrs. Bob Oakleaf Mr. Michael Ochs Ms. Louise J. O'Connell Mr. Jack C. Osgood Mr. Noriko Otsuka Mrs. Marv B. Palmer Mr. and Mrs. Michael Palmer Dr. Rebecca Papendick Mr. Charles D. Parker Ms. Ethel M. Patterson Ms. Stacey Patterson Mr. Gregory Pavelka Payette Brewing Company Mr. Ramiro Pazos and Ms. Noreen Walsh Mr. and Mrs. Richard J. Pearson Ms. Rosemary Pendergast Mr. Timothy S. Penn Mr. Wayne Pennington Dr. Andrew Perkins Mr. Ross Perkins Ms. Dorothea Perrin Ms. Sara Jean Peters Mr. and Mrs. Rudolf Petersen Mr. and Mrs. Len Peterson

Ms. Colleen Peterson Mr. Rand K. Peterson Dr. Robert Petrea Ms. Sara Petry Dr. and Mrs. Donald Pica Dr. James C. Pickens Mr. and Mrs. Roy Pisetsky Mr. and Mrs. Monti Pittman Ms. Karla Player Dr. Bruce Poland Mr. Thomas Polkinhorn Mr. Frank Pommersheim Ms. Cindy Potter Mr. David Potter Ms. Jean Power Mr. C. Donald Powers Mr. and Mrs. Donald M. Powers Dr. Tasha Pravecek Mr. Ralph A. Prav Ms. Suzanne Pritchard Ms. Bernadette J. Puleo Ms. Cathy Purchis Quest Ecology Inc. Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Quiel Mr. and Mrs. Fred Raje Ms. Constance Ralls Mr. Don Ransom and Ms. Susan Inui-Kelley Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Ray Mr. Bayard D. Rea Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Reed Margaret W. Reed Foundation Ms. Pamela Register Ms. Ann E. Reitz Mr. Andrew Richter Mr. Larry Riley Ms. Pamela Rilev Mr. Mike Rivkin Ms. Sarah Roberts Mr. Pete Rodas Mr. Gary Rode Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Rogers Decker and Jessica Rolph Mr. Mike Roper Mr. Thomas E. Rosmond Mr. R. Thomas Ross Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Ross Ms. Judith S. Rothman Mr. and Mrs. Charlie Rountree Mr. Dick Ruben and Ms. Joan Jaffe Mr. and Mrs. Charles Rubens, II Dr. Beth F. Rubin Ms. Elissa Rudolph

Mr. Gary G. Ruhser and Mrs. Jean C. Ruhser Mr. Paul D. Russell Mr. and Mrs. Steven Russell Rutan & Tucker, LLP Ms. Lorraine C. Saarie Mr. Morris Sadicario Mr. and Mrs. George Sadowsky Dr. Alexander Sapiens Mr. G. Brett Saunders Mr. Scott A. Schactler Dr. Tanner Schaub Dr. William Scheible Ms. Alice Schick Ms. Karen Schiff Mr. Duane Schilling Mr. and Mrs. A. A. Schonder Mr. Frederick D. Schroeder Mr. Rverson E. Schwark and Ms. Jenny L. Gibbons Mr. and Mrs. Dan Scott Mr. and Mrs. Clee Sealing Avery and Susan Seifert Mrs. Susan Seifert Mr. Benii Shake Mr. Mark Sharky Ms. Elsie Sharp Mr. Joseph D. Shaw Mr. Randy Shaw Ms. Donna Shearer Mr. and Mrs. Donald H. Shedd Fred and Arlene Sheely Dr. Steve Sherrod Mrs. Joan Bopp Shor Ms. Denise Shushan Margery Silk Mr. and Mrs. Jeffrey Sipple Mr. Daniel Skibitcky Mr. and Mrs. Jerry Sloan Mr. and Mrs. Edward C. Slottow Mr. Steve Small and Ms. Carol Cwiklinski Ms. Lou Ann Smith Mr. Sean Smith Mr. and Mrs. Stan Smith Mr. and Mrs. Tom Smylie Ms. Mary Snider Mr. David H. Snow Society of Canadian Ornithology Ms. Jan Solon Ms. Renee Sosa and Mr. Alexander Michael Mr. Warren L. Spencer Mr. James B Stabler

Mr. William H. Stallings Mr. Kenneth Sterner Mr. and Mrs. William Stevens Mr. Charles R. Stirrat Mr. and Mrs. Jack Stoddart Mr. Gregory Stratton Ms. Ann A. Straut Esden Mr. Tom Strikwerda and Ms. Donna Stienstra Mr. Kenneth G. Struever Mr. James A. Struthers Ms. Jennifer Strutz Mr. Michael Stubbe Mr. Rudolph Stutzmann Sul Ross State University Mr. and Mrs. Dennis Sullivan Ms. Wendy Swanson Mrs. and Mr. Sheri Swanzy Nelson Talbott Foundation Ms. Ruth Tatter Dr. Stanley Temple and Ms. Jane P. Rundell Ms. Megan Terry and Mr. Bill Cox Dr. William Terry Mr. Mark Thames Mrs. Heidi Theios Ms. Mary Thom Ms. Janine Thomas Ms. Lynda Ellenshaw Thompson Mrs. Beverley Thorne Ms. Lynda Thorstrom Ms. Laurie Todd Mr. Clinton Townsend Ms. Mary Trapnell Dr. Charles Trost Truist Mr. John A. Trunnell Mr. Eliot P. Tucker Ms. Cindy Tuckish Tumbleweed Veterinary Services Ms. Jenel M. Turner Mr. William C. Tuthill Dr. Merlin D. Tuttle Karsten and Lisa Ulland Mr. and Mrs. Stephen M. Unfried Ms. Benedicte Valentiner Mr. and Mrs. David Valentino Mr. William Vandervalk Ms. Martha Loar Vandervoort Mr. Maureen Vanek Col. Paul VanGorden Ms. Janis VanWyle Mr. Jose de Jesus Vargas Gonzalez

Mr. and Mrs. Bill Velasquez Mr. and Mrs. William Vogel Mrs. Emily Wade Ms. Dianne Walker Mr. Michael Walter Mr. and Mrs. Lothar F. Warneke Mrs. Winifred Washco Mr. Robert Wasilewski Mr. Harvey Watson William Webster Dr. Garv Weddle Mr. David Weeshoff Dr. Skip Wehner Ms. Elizabeth Wehrli Ms. Mary Weigel Dr. and Mrs. James A. Wells Mrs. Mary A. Welsh Mr. Carl R. Wescott Ms. Simone Westbrook-Hall Mr. Thomas Wettengel Mrs. Kathy Whitlock Mrs. Erica Wible Mr. and Mrs. Jon Wiese Mr. Ion Wilcox Wildsight Productions. Inc. Mr. David E. Wilhelm Mr. George Williams Ms. Joan A. Wilson Ms. Joann Wilson Ms. Maxine A. Winer Mr. Tom Witherington Mr. Jeff Wneck Mr. Bob Woche Ms. Lisa Woldin The Honorable Frances S. Wolfson Ms. Connie Wolsky Carolyn Wolter Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Wolter Mr. Bob Wood and Ms. Sheila M. Boester Mr. Edward F. Wood Mr. and Mrs. Dale C. Woolley Mr. and Mrs. Steele Wotkyns Ms. Frances L. Wright-Kulas Dr. and Mrs. Charles F. Wurster Mr. Chris Yadon Ms. Susan Yanchuck Mr. Leonard Young Ms. Stephanie Youngerman and Mr. Robert Jahn Dr. and Dr. Jim Zachow Ms. Cathleen Zick and Mr. Ken Smith Mr. Theodore Zimmerman Mr. Lawrence E. Zuk

N

0

н

ч

Ν

0

N

•

⊳

z

z

⊳

ᆔ

m

τ

0

R



Birds of Prey. Bill Belknap holds Gus, a Peregrine Falcon.

What is

a legacy?

Bill Belknap is a lifelong naturalist: biologist, aviculturist, retired college professor, rancher, grandfather, and docent at the World Center for Birds of Prey.

"The greatest legacy I could leave would be to educate people about how these animals have a place with us, that these birds do a lot of good."

We congratulate Bill on joining our new Legacy Circle, an exclusive group of donors who commit to supporting The Peregrine Fund's mission beyond their lifetimes. His investment, and yours, is deeply appreciated now and far into the future.

Legacy Circle members commit to make a contribution to The Peregrine Fund by bequest or other planned gift from their estate. They may direct whether their gift is unrestricted, or for the education program or Archives of Falconry.

In appreciation for this commitment, members of the Legacy Circle are:

- Provided a beautiful engraved paperweight.
- Invited to participate in an annual telephone call with leaders of The Peregrine Fund.
- · Publicly recognized, if they choose, with a plaque or other permanent recognition at The Peregrine Fund headquarters in Boise.
- Named (except those who wish to be anonymous) in our annual report, on our website, and in other publications.
- Invited to our special events.

To join the Legacy Circle or learn more, contact us at legacycircle@peregrinefund.org or 208-362-3716.

Jegacy Circle

Staff

United States

Linda Behrman Gabe Border Joell Brown Derek Buchner Pat Burnham Jack Caffertv Taiana Carvalho Jessica Cate David Cline Marta Curti Donna Daniels Sam Davila Edward Feltes Michael Garets Matt Giovanni Brian Gloshen Clavton Graham Sherri Haley Thomas Hayes **Bill Heinrich** Grainger Hunt Marti Jenkins J. Peter Jenny Paul Juergens Meagan Kaiser Llovd Kiff Andria Kroner Kristy Marks Amel Mustic Brian Mutch Julia Nadal John Neilson Trish Nixon Geoff Pampush Chris Parish Nick Piccono Mark Purdy Shaun Putz Travis Rosenberry Cal Sandfort Amy Siedenstrang Heather Springsteed Paul Spurling Connie Stanger Cindy Thiel Russell Thorstrom Rick Watson Eric Weis David Wells Susan Whaley Allyson Woodard Aaron Wuori

International

Neotropics Jonathan Urbina Hernan Vargas Pan Africa

Darcy Ogada Munir Virani

Madagascar

Tolojanahary R. A. Andriamalala Adrien Batou Be Berthin Augustin N. Bonhomme Eloi Fanameha (Lala) Jean Louis Andry Hiankinantsoa Jaomizara Eugene Ladoany Kalavah R. Loukman Jules Mampiandra Moïse Monesse Charles Rabearivelo (Vola) Berthine Rafarasoa Jeannette Rajesy Marius P. H. Rakotondratsima Michel Rakotoson Donatien Randrianiafiniasa Gaston Raoelison Bien Aimé Rasolonirina Ernest Razafimandimby Gilbert Razafimanjato Joseph Razafindrasolo Jacquot M. Razanakoto (Lova) Lilv-Arison Rene de Roland Seing T. Sam Gilbert Tohaky Soalihy Tongamoelinakily

Volunteers

Lvnette Adsitt

Deb Anderson

Emily Anderson

Michelle Axtell

Dylan Baker

Kim Barden

Bill Belknap

Maud Bolstad

Christa Braun

Reesa Brown

Ray Brucks

Gina Bush

Kate Bush

Lisa Craig

Ron Crayton

Julie Ekhoff

Maryon Evans

Leo Faddis

Kit Fawcett

Joni Frey

Mike Garets

Barb Girard

Helen Crewse

Deanna Combs

Christy Commons

Vernon "Scott" Dowdle

Jordann Engelbrecht

Claudia Fernsworth

Stephen Gradhandt

Valerie Grimes

Lindsey Hamilton

Kathryn Hampton

Pennie Guy

Lisa Hatch

Bonnie Helzer

Kathryn Hobson

Barbara Fordham

Beverly Fransen

Fletch Breedlove

Amanda Brumbaugh

Jill Bragdon

Anne Blair

Velma Morrison Interpretive Center

Pat Hovland Dale Howard Ruth Kassens Claudia Laushman Connie Leavitt Steve Lewis Pam Lowe Jack Lupien Jane Matthews Milton Melzian Linda Mitchell Mitch Mitchell Ashley Neubrand Alexis Neufeld Dave Oliver Bruce Parks Sheryl Parks Brit Peterson Sarah Poppino Fred Pugh Betty Purdy Mark Purdy Bill Rath Marcia Ross Denise Rotell Dean Sangrey Nikki Sartin Michael (Mags) Shaw Chan Springer **Diann Stone** Jude Streicher Lila Rae Streicher Gerri Tallabas Matt Tallabas Mary "Katie" Katherine Golis Dick Thatcher Toree Tuck Vivian Upton Mckenzie Walker Judy Weidner Lauren Whitenack Rebekah Whitney Allan Wylie

Library/Global **Raptor Information System**

Julie Kiff Chris Restall Jesse Timberlake

The Archives of Falconry

Paul Beecroft S. Kent Carnie Dr. Javier Ceballos Bob Collins Peter Devers Don Garlock Jim Hansen Bill Mattox Ashley Neubrand Natalie Nicholson Kathleen Orlenko John Swift Vicki Swift H. W. "Dick" ten Bosch James Thomas Nick Vanhole

California Condor

Dorothy Tinkler, Ph.D.

Asian Vulture Crisis Project

Patrick Benson

East Africa Project

Shiv Kapila Hetal Patel

In memory



Former Peregrine Fund board member Patricia Disney, 77, died of Alzheimer's disease on 3 February 2012 in her Los Angeles home. She served on the

board with her former husband, Roy E. Disney, from 1988 to 2008.

Patricia A. Disney

She was vice chairman of Shamrock Holdings, the investment company for the Roy Disney family. In addition to her interest in birds of prev. Patty was an advocate for higher education. She was a regent of St. Mary's College in Moraga, California, and a trustee of Occidental College in Los Angeles.

She is survived by four children and 17 grandchildren.

James L. Willmarth



of his death, he was Curator of

Birds at the Velma Morrison Interpretive Center, one of many jobs Jim performed with exceptional skill during his 30-year career with The Peregrine Fund.

Jim began his career watching over Peregrine Falcon chicks released to the wild at one of the earliest hack sites in Grand Teton National Park. In 1984, he helped construct breeding facilities at the newly established World Center for Birds of Prev. Through the years, Jim traveled around the world to work with a variety of raptors, including vultures, Gyrfalcons, Cape Verde Red Kites, and California Condors.

Jim was an amazing falconer, adept at capturing and handling birds of prey, and generous with his knowledge and passion for birds. He is survived by his mother, five siblings, and a nephew.

N

0

н

CONSERVING BIRDS OF PREY WORLDWIDE 53



Operating Revenues (excluding endowment)



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT SEPTEMBER 30

Assets	2011	2010
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,322,262	\$ 1,229,452
Grants receivable	258,730	102,654
Pledges and other receivables	456,188	1,026,264
Inventory, prepaids, and other assets	125,399	107,114
Property and equipment (net of depreciation)	4,825,453	5,137,284
Archives collection	2,307,103	2,276,960
Endowment assets	9,964,306	9,702,738
TOTAL ASSETS	\$19,259,441	\$19,582,466
Liabilities and Net Assets		
LIABILITIES		
Accounts payable	\$ 64,117	\$ 65,829
Accrued taxes and expenses	50,610	28,832
Deferred revenue	9,567	30,683
TOTAL LIABILITIES	124,294	125,344
NET ASSETS		
Unrestricted	\$17,732,890	\$17,705,367
Temporarily restricted	1,402,257	1,751,755
TOTAL NET ASSETS	19,135,147	19,457,122
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS	\$10,250,1/1	\$19 582 /66



The Board of Directors established an endowment fund during fiscal year 1983 to help ensure the financial future of the Fund. A policy, established by the Board of Directors, allows The Peregrine Fund to use a portion of the endowment fund's market value towards operating expenses. The amount withdrawn for fiscal year 2011 was \$465,400.

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011, WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR 2010

UNRESTRICTED OPERATIONS

NON-OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Revenues	2011 Total	2010 Total
Contributions utilized (note 1)	\$3,778,693	\$3,465,502
Government grants	972,492	631,195
In-kind revenues	385,639	270,368
Admissions and sales	210,837	185,714
Endowment funds utilized	465,400	413,300
Special Event	175,064	—
Other	23,151	46,488
Total unrestricted revenues, gains, and other support	\$6,011,276	\$5,012,567
Expenses		
PROGRAM EXPENSES		
Species restoration	\$2,144,685	\$1,986,506
Conservation programs	1,670,386	1,294,653
Education/information	1,177,342	891,784
Total program expenses	4,992,413	4,172,943
SUPPORT SERVICES EXPENSES		
Administration	\$ 466,190	\$ 381,863
Fundraising	390,164	378,773
Membership	122,286	75,426
Total support services expenses	978,640	836,062
Total expenses-operations	5,971,053	5,009,005
OPERATING REVENUES OVER OPERATING EXPENSES	\$ 40,223	\$ 3,562

Capital	2011 Total	2010 Total
Contributions utilized to purchase fixed assets	38,652	74,620
Restricted contributions utilized-Condor Exhibit	-	220,988
Depreciation on Fixed Assets	(320,307)	(338,005)
Loss on asset disposition	(33)	(7,757)
Endowment		
Bequests and endowments	215,191	98,092
Investment income (loss)	509,052	893,174
Endowment funds utilized	(465,400)	(413,300)
Pledges and contributions designated for future years		
Pledges and contributions	344,153	99,058
Prior year's revenue used in current year	(683,506)	(1,000,926)
TOTAL NON-OPERATING ACTIVITIES	(362,198)	(374,056)
Increase (decrease) in net assets Net assets at beginning of year Net assets at end of year	(321,975) 19,457,122 \$19,135,147	(370,494) 19,827,616 \$19,457,122

Note 1—Contributions utilized in 2011 includes current year contributions of \$3,095,187, and prior years' contributions released from restrictions of \$683,506.

The financial results depicted are derived from The Peregrine Fund's audited September 30, 2011 financial statements, which contain an unqualified opinion. The complete audited financial statements can be obtained by contacting The Peregrine Fund, Administrator, 5668 W Flying Hawk Lane, Boise, Idaho 83709.



The Peregrine Fund participates in EarthShare and the Combined Federal Campaign. Workplace giving simplifies your record-keeping, and many employers will match your donation!

World Center for Birds of Prey 5668 West Flying Hawk Lane Boise, Idaho 83709 United States of America

Business Office (208) 362-3716

Velma Morrison Interpretive Center (208) 362-8687

Fax (208) 362-2376

E-mail Address tpf@peregrinefund.org

Website www.peregrinefund.org

THE PEREGRINE FUND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Lee M. Bass Chairman of the Board President, Lee M. Bass, Inc.

Carl A. Navarre Vice Chairman of the Board Book Publisher and CEO, MyPublisher, Inc.

J. Peter Jenny President

Richard T. Watson, Ph.D. Vice-President

Patricia B. Manigault Treasurer and Director Conservationist and Rancher

Samuel Gary, Jr. Secretary and Director President, Samuel Gary, Jr. & Associates, Inc.

Tom J. Cade, Ph.D. Founding Chairman Professor Emeritus of Ornithology, Cornell University

Ian Newton, D.Phil., D.Sc., FRS. Chairman of the Board, Emeritus Senior Ornithologist (Ret.) Natural Environment Research Council United Kingdom

Paxson H. Offield Chairman of the Board, Emeritus President, Offield Family Foundation Robert B. Berry Trustee, Wolf Creek Charitable Foundation, Rancher, Falcon Breeder, and Conservationist

Harry L. Bettis Rancher

P. Dee Boersma, Ph.D. Wadsworth Endowed Chair in Conservation Science University of Washington

Frank M. Bond Attorney at Law and Rancher

Virginia H. Carter Natural History Artist Environmental Educator

Robert S. Comstock President and CEO Robert Comstock Company

William E. Cornatzer Dermatologist, Falconer, and Conservationist

Derek J. Craighead Ecologist

Scott A. Crozier Attorney at Law and Chairman, Picket Fences, Inc.

James H. Enderson, Ph.D. Professor Emeritus of Biology The Colorado College

Caroline A. Forgason Partner Groves-Alexander Group LLC Karen J. Hixon Conservationist

Robert Wood Johnson IV Chairman and CEO The Johnson Company, Inc. and The New York Jets LLC

Jacobo Lacs International Businessman and Conservationist

Ambrose K. Monell Private Investor

Carter R. Montgomery Central Energy, LLC

Velma V. Morrison President Harry W. Morrison Foundation

Lucia Liu Severinghaus, Ph.D. Biodiversity Research Center Academia Sinica Taiwan

Steven P. Thompson, LLC Regional Director for California and Nevada Region (Ret.) U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

R. Beauregard Turner Fish and Wildlife Manager Director of Natural Resources Turner Enterprises, Inc.

Russell R. Wasendorf, Sr. Chairman and CEO, PFG Best

James D. Weaver President, Grasslans Charitable Foundation and Rancher